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Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) presents 
the annual report for the year ended 31 
December 2018.  This report integrates finan-
cial and sustainability information to inform 
our valued stakeholders on our economic, 
environmental and social performance. The 
report includes our first sustainability re-
port prepared in accordance with the GRI 
Sustainability Reporting Standards: Core op-
tion. This report reflects our strategic direc-
tion towards building a sustainable business.

Reporting Frameworks

The preparation of this annual report was 
guided by the following:

•	 GRI Sustainability Reporting 
Standards

•	 Malawi Companies Act (40:03)
•	 International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS)

Data and Assurance

Ethanol Company’s financial statements 
were audited by Grant Thornton Malawi in 
accordance with International Standards of 

Auditing (ISAs). Sustainability information 
pertaining to environmental and social per-
formance was reviewed by internal subject 
matter experts and management. The sys-
tems from which sustainability data was col-
lected was audited by the National Quality 
Assurance (NQA) Africa, which certified our 
risk management system.  

Restatements

This report does not contain any restate-
ments in data or information which may have 
been published in our prior year reporting. 

Forward Looking Statements 

This report may contain forward looking 
statements. These statements are based 
on estimates and projection by Ethanol 
Company and current available information. 
Forward looking statements are not state-
ments of historical facts and may contain 
terms “may”, “will”, “should”, “continue”, 
“aims”, “estimates”, “projects”, “believes”, “in-
tends”, “expects”, “plans”, “seeks” or “antici-
pates”, or words of similar meaning. Future 
statements are not guarantees of future 
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developments and results outlined therein. 
These are dependent on a number of factors; 
they involve various risks and uncertainties; 
and there are based on assumptions that are 
beyond Ethanol Company’s control. Readers 
are cautioned not to put undue reliance on 
forward looking statements.  

Report Declaration

This report has been prepared in accor-
dance with the GRI Standards: Core option. 
Management believes all considerations were 
taken to ensure the report complies in all 
material aspects with provisions of the se-
lected disclosure option. The reporting cycle 
is expected to be completed on an annual 
basis going forward.

External Assurance

The company believes external assurance is 
vital to assure our readers on the reliability 
and validity of information and data in our 
report.  The sustainability report was not 
externally assured but was supported by ex-
ternal subject matter experts for compliance 
with GRI Standards.

Feedback on the Report

Ethanol Company values feedback and opin-
ions from all our valued stakeholders to as-
sist us improve our next annual report. We 
welcome your feedback on this report and 
any suggestions you may have. Please provide 
your feedback to: Mrs. L. Chakaniza, Chief 
Executive Officer. 

Email:  lchakaniza@ethanolmw.com  
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Company History
•	 Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) 

is a molasses based ethanol produc-
tion facility located in Dwangwa, a 
town in the Nkhotakota Lakeshore 
District of Malawi. The Company 
was commissioned in 1982 to pi-
oneer the production of fuel etha-
nol for the Malawian energy sector 
following the 1977 energy crisis. To 
date, the Company has produced 
well over 0.3 billion litres compris-
ing fuel ethanol, extra neutral alcohol 
and rectified spirit. After having un-
dergone a revamp in the late 2000s, 
the Company now prides a unique 
design that allows partial flexibility 
of production in line with market de-
mands. 

Company Profile
EthCo’s shareholding is structured as follows:

•	 66.6 %  - Press Corporation Limited 
(PCL) 

•	 25.8%  - Inde Trust Pensions and 
Benefits Fund 

•	 7.6% - Dwangwa Sugar Corporation 
(DSC) 

The bulk of potable alcohol (ENA) produced 
serves the domestic market, while the rest 
is exported to Zambia, Kenya, Tanzania and 
Uganda. All of EthCo’s fuel ethanol (AA) is 
sold to Oil Marketing Companies in Malawi, 
who by Government mandate must blend 
imported petrol with 20% ethanol.  

EthCo’s customer base is primarily business 
to business (B2B), spanning across the ener-
gy sector, food and beverage manufacturers, 
chemical and pharmaceutical industries. 

EthCo’s current production capacity is;

•	 48,000 litres of ENA (Potable 
Alcohol)

•	 20,000 litres of AA (Fuel Ethanol)

Membership
EthCo is a member to various iassociations 
that serve the needs of the manufacturing 
business sector in Malawi. 
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Performance Highlights
There was growth in sale and revenue in FY2018 in comparison with the previous year as 
the company recovered from the impact of closure of some of its key liquor manufacturing 
customers in 2017 due to regulatory compliance issues. 

(MK ‘000’)

6,288,338
-2018-

(MK ‘000’)

4,677,937
-2017-

Total Revenues

Financial Highlights

Capital Structure

Sustainability Highlights
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INTRODUCTION

The publication of this integrated report is 
an important milestone in the history of the 
Company and Malawi as a whole in as far as 
sustainability reporting is concerned. Having 
been in existence for 36 years and being the 
pioneer producer of ethanol, which is a re-
newable fuel, there couldn’t have been a bet-
ter leader at demonstrating how a Company 
can conduct its business while ensuring that 
the impacts of their operations on sustain-
ability issues are considered and openly com-
municated. I therefore believe that readers of 
this report will be able to appreciate the im-
provements that the Company will continue 
to make in the subsequent reports with 2018 
being taken as a baseline year.

PERFORMANCE

During the 2018 financial year, EthCo focused 
its effort on reviewing its strategy to sustain 
the business having faced some operating en-
vironment challenges which resulted into a 
decline in business margins over a number 

of years. 

While there was growth in sales volumes and 
revenues in comparison to FY2017, the com-
pany continued to be impacted by the pro-
longed statutory closure of its major extra 
neutral alcohol off takers. Government took 
a bold step to enforce the adherence to pro-
duction and liquor packaging standards, with 
manufacturers shifting from plastic to glass 
bottle packaging to ensure consumer safe-
ty. This, in addition to the impact of a write 
off of prospecting costs capitalized over the 
years relating to an additional feed stock 
project and lower margins achieved on the 
export market led to the Company making a 
loss in the year.  

A detailed performance of the company 
has been addressed in the Chief Executive 
Officer’s statement and the financial capital 
section of this report. Going forward and 
building on the foundation laid in 2018, the 
focus will be on growth through product di-
versification. For more on this please refer to 
page 8 above.

While there was growth in 
sales volumes and revenues 

in comparison to FY2017, the 
company continued to be 

impacted by the prolonged 
statutory closure of its major 

extra neutral alcohol off 
takers
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

We agree and support good governance and 
sustainability principles and we will continue 
to exercise due professionalism in all our ac-
tivities to enable a sustainable business. In this 
regard, we have taken this determination and 
passion further by reviewing and overhauling 
our approach to sustainability. This entails a 
holistic approach to all business operations 
and their related impacts and mitigation 
strategies. On an annual basis, we commit to 
an assessment of our operations and business 
environment in order to determine material 
topics that our company should focus on and 
track in order to measure our performance 
in as far as sustainability is concerned. I refer 
you to the company’s governance structure 
and our full sustainability approach as de-
tailed in this report.  

STRATEGY 

The Board assesses the effectiveness of the 
company strategies which are aimed at ad-
dressing identified business risks. We contin-
ue to take a long-term view of the business 
through establishing new markets, product 
diversification, securing feedstock and in-
creasing plant capacity.  We will also continue 
to engage Government and other stakehold-
ers on critical business success factors in 
order to deliver our strategy and meet the 
expectations of all stakeholders. 

THE BOARD

On a quarterly basis, the Board meets to 
assess the company’s performance in line 
with good governance and sustainability re-
quirements. As Chairman of the Board, I am 
responsible for overall effectiveness of the 
Board and its committees and ensure that 
we provide the required strategic guidance 
and accountability. The Board of the company 
remains committed to provision of the re-
quired resources to ensure compliance with 
good governance and achievement of our set 
strategic and sustainability goals. 

To enable continual improvement and ef-
fective discharge of its role, the Board con-
ducts annual evaluations of its function and 

acts upon the recommendations therefrom, 
some of which include an assessment of its 
composition in line with good corporate 
governance.  During the year, the board was 
restructured to include both Executive and 
Non-executive directors and this led to Mrs 
Lusubilo Chakaniza (CEO) being appointed 
as an Executive Director. At the same time 
Mr. Gabriel Kambale joined the Board as a 
new member effective 26th February, 2018 
replacing Mr. Benard Ndau who retired.  We 
welcome both and wish them every success 
on the board and also thank Mr. Ndau for his 
contribution during the time he was a board 
member. 

APPRECIATION

I would like to thank all the Directors, 
Management and Staff of EthCo for their con-
tribution to the operations of the Company 
during 2018 financial year. The Board con-
ducted itself in a professional manner and it 
is my hope that the level of participation and 
guidance demonstrated will continue in or-
der to ensure the delivery of excellent results 
in line with all stakeholders’ expectations in 
2019 and beyond. The management and staff, 
on the other hand, demonstrated positive 
energy, dedication and hard work despite the 
challenges that the Company faced which is 
commendable and worth a lot of praise and 
recognition.

The Company could not have successfully 
operated without any customers, suppliers 
and all other stakeholders who played a role 
in making sure that we traded seamlessly 
and sustainably throughout the year. I look 
forward to a continued working relationship 
with all stakeholders as we all strive to con-
tribute to the social economic development 
of our societies. 

With our dedication and professional leader-
ship abilities, the business is geared for suc-
cess and I look forward to good performance 
in the coming year.
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Company Profile 
Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) is a sub-
sidiary of Press Corporation Limited Plc and 
the sole producer of Extra Neutral Alcohol 
(ENA) in Malawi. In addition, the Company 
produces Anhydrous (fuel ethanol) and rec-
tified (industrial) spirit and has an associate 
that produces carbon dioxide for the bev-
erage industry and other uses. In keeping 
abreast with global standards, the Company 
has ISO 9001, ISO14001 and OHSAS 18001 
certification.

Sustainablity Approach

Sustainability is a key strategic pillar to our 
operations. Our approach is to ensure that 
environmental and social issues are embed-
ded in how we create value for stakeholders 
through effective implementation of good 
governance and sustainability standards. 

Being our inaugural year in as far as sustain-
ability reporting is concerned, 2018 will be 
used as a benchmark for future reporting and 

tracking of progress of our performance. As 
a pioneer in the PCL group and in Malawi 
to take on this global initiative, we are proud 
to share the sustainability efforts that we are 
making as we drive our mission of being ‘a 
world class innovative company that employs 
strategic and competitive intelligence to pro-
vide premium ethanol and allied products us-
ing fit for purpose and efficient equipment, 
processes and technology for the benefit of 
all stakeholders’. 

We hope that as we lead in this voluntary but 
responsible venture, others will follow.

In coming up with this report, we have fol-
lowed the materiality determination process-
es in line with GRI standards in order to ef-
fectively select applicable material topics for 
our operations. As such, eleven  material top-
ics have been selected and discussed in the 
subsequent pages viz Compliance and risk 
management, Materiality, People, Economic 
performance, Anti-Corruption, Occupational 
Safety and Health, Materials, Energy, Water, 

‘a world class innovative 
company that employs 

strategic and competitive 
intelligence to provide premium 

ethanol and allied products 
using fit for  purpose and 

efficient equipment, processes 
and technology for the benefit 

of all stakeholders’. 
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Training and Education and Customer Health 
and Safety.

As we developed this inaugural report, we 
encountered a few challenges that included 
knowledge gaps, missing or incomplete sus-
tainability data and at times failure to meet 
deadlines. Going forward, we are committed 
to improve our knowledge and data collec-
tion processes in order to enrich our report 
and make it more relevant. 

2018 Performance Highlights 

Despite growth in sales volume and revenue 
of 33% and 34% respectively, maturation of 
the local ENA market and unfavourable fuel 
ethanol prices strained the margins in the 
year. The financial position of the Company 
was further weakened by bad debt provi-
sions, severance payments and a write off of 
accumulated expenditures on a feedstock 
project, bringing about a 92% reduction in 
pre-tax profits against prior year. In spite 
of these challenges, 
positive strides were 
made in the improve-
ment of manufac-
turing efficiency and 
the management of 
other expense lines. 
Furthermore, imple-
mentation of various 
risk mitigation strat-
egies meant that the overall inherent risk 
exposure was on a downward trend and re-
mained within set appetite levels throughout 
the year. 

Outlook for 2019 

EthCo is poised to strengthen its position in 
2019 by increasing production and sales vol-
umes beyond 2018 levels and implementing a 
strategy that focuses on innovation, product 
diversification, business process reengineer-
ing and employee productivity enhancement 
initiatives.  Additionally, a new marketing strat-
egy will be rolled out to enable the Company 
consolidate both the local and export ENA 
markets. 

Strategic Direction 

In line with a new idea based strategy, the 
Company is targeting growth through diver-
sification with a goal to triple revenues by end 
2023. We plan to increase the degree of flex-
ibility of the plant to enable more fuel eth-
anol production in response to the market 
dynamics. Management will therefore con-
tinue to lobby Government on a sustainable 
fuel ethanol pricing and tax model to enable 
consistent supply of this renewable source of 
fuel and in turn contribute to the reduction 
in environmental pollution from petrol. On 
the other hand, efforts to increase the exist-
ing plant capacity utilisation through sourcing 
of molasses at reasonable prices remain a 
critical survival strategy for our business.

Conclusion

I wish to sincerely thank the Board of the 
Company for the continued guidance, leader-
ship and advice to management. Without the 

resourceful support of 
the leadership at Board 
level, it wouldn’t have 
been possible for the 
Company to continue 
thriving. 

To my fellow colleagues 
at EthCo, your zeal, re-
silience and spirit of suc-

cess is what has taken us this far. I look for-
ward to our positive transformation as we 
implement the new strategy for the business. 

Last but not least, let me convey my token 
of appreciation to the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) team for their technical sup-
port throughout the process of developing 
this report as well as the empowerment of 
the EthCo team with the necessary skills and 
awareness training. We will remain indebted 
to GRI for putting us on the global map as 
one of the African entities that can be used 
as a role model in openly declaring our sus-
tainability initiatives and goals in line with the 
global agenda on sustainable development.

EthCo is poised to strengthen its 
position in 2019 by increasing 

production and sales volumes beyond 
2018 levels and implementing a 

strategy that focuses on innovation, 
product diversification, business 

process reengineering and employee 
productivity enhancement initiatives. 
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Corporate Governance
EthCo’s corporate governance practices are guided by the company’s Articles of Association. 
The company endeavours by all means to adhere to and implement best practices of cor-
porate governance as they develop from time to time. The Board of Directors is chaired by 
a Non-Executive Director.  The tenure of Directors is guided by the Articles of Association.

Governance structure

Board Nomination and Composition
 The highest governance body is the Board of Directors consisting of one (1) executive director 
and seven (7) non executive directors, four (4) of which are nominated by Press Corporation 
Limited (PCL),  two (2) by Inde Trust and one (1) by Dwangwa Sugar Corporation (DSC).

Within the selection process, the Appointments and Remuneration Committee has the role 
of reviewing the nominations and recommending for final approval by the Board.
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John Biziwick
B.Soc Sc (Economics), MSc (Economics) 

Chairman

Mr. John Biziwick was appointed to the board of Ethanol Company 
Limited on 14 June 2016. Currently, he works as the Group Operations 
Executive for Press Corporation Limited (PCL). He joined the Group 
as Group Operations Executive Designate on 5 October 2015. Prior 
to this, he worked as the Commissioner General of Malawi Revenue 
Authority (MRA) from June 2012 to July 2014. Before joining the MRA, 
Mr. Biziwick worked for NBS Bank as Chief Executive Officer from 2002 
to 2012 and as Deputy General Manager (Operations) from 2000 to 
2002. Mr. Biziwick began his professional career in the Reserve Bank of 
Malawi where he joined in 1980 as an Economist. From 1980 to 2000, 
he worked in various departments including Research and Statistics, 
Foreign Exchange, Exchange Control, and International Operations.

Elizabeth Mafeni (Mrs)
MBL, FCCA, CPA(M), BCom

Director

Mrs. Elizabeth Mafeni was appointed to the board of Ethanol Company 
Limited on 24th February 2012. Currently she is working as Group 
Financial Controller of Press Corporation Limited. She joined Press 
Group in September 1999 as Chief Accountant at Malawi Pharmacies 
Limited. In June 2000, she was transferred to the Corporate Head Office 
initially as Chief Accountant until 2003 when she was promoted to the 
position of Group Financial Accountant. On 01 October 2010, she was 
promoted to the position of Group Financial Controller.

Gabriel Kambale, 
M.Sc. Finance & Legal Management; LLB (Hons)

Director

Mr. Gabriel Kambale was appointed to the Board of EthCo on 26 
February 2018. Currently, he is the Managing Consultant at GK asso-
ciates where he is involved in providing legal advice to financial and 
other institutions, state and regulatory bodies on various legal issues. 
Mr. Kambale previously worked for different law firms, assisting some 
well-known organizations in advisory, commercial drafting and in some, 
listing on the stock exchange. Between 1999 and 2001, he worked with 
Air Malawi Limited as Company Secretary. A known liquidator, trans-
action lawyer and an expert in commercial drafting, Mr. Kambale holds 
an Honours Degree in Law from the University of Malawi, a Masters in 
Financial and Legal Management from Thames Valley University, London, 
United Kingdom.
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Lucius Mandala, 
B. Soc. Sc (Economics), MBA

Director

Mr. Lucius Mandala was appointed to the board of Ethanol Company 
Limited on 24th November 2011. He is an expert in market research, 
investment appraisal, project management, financial advisory services 
and asset management. He has worked at senior level in an export 
development and promotion organization; a development finance orga-
nization; and a financial services firm involved in asset management and 
corporate finance. Since February 2007, Mr. Mandala runs his own finan-
cial and investment consultancy firm called Capital Partners Limited, in 
Limbe, Malawi. He also owns and runs a tea re-processing operation in 
Lunzu, Blantyre. In his own right, Mr. Mandala is a Director of various 
companies in Malawi.

Benson Wanikomola Jere
B.Soc Sc (Economics), B. Com Hons (Economics & Corporate Finance), 
MA (Economics & Finance) 

Director

Mr. Benson W. Jere was appointed to the Board of Ethanol Company 
Limited in August 2016. He is currently the Chief Executive Officer 
of NBM Capital Markets Limited since 2011. He is a seasoned invest-
ment management professional. He boosts over 20 years of experi-
ence with local and international exposure in the investment manage-
ment industry. He holds a Master of Arts (MA) in Economics & Finance 
from University of Malawi; Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) degree ( 
B.Com Hons) in Economics and Corporate Finance from University of 
Cape Town in South Africa; and Bachelor of Social Science (B.Soc Sc) in 
Economics from University of Malawi.

William T. Mabulekesi 
B. Soc Sc (Economics), Master’s Degree (Banking & Finance)  

Director

Mr. William T. Mabulekesi was appointed to the Board of Ethanol Company 
Limited on 1 August 2016. He is currently working as Manager of NBM 
Pensions Administration Limited since 2009 a wholly owned subsidiary 
of National Bank of Malawi specifically established to offer Pension Fund 
Administration services. He joined National Bank of Malawi in 2007 
after working with Standard Bank of Malawi for 12 years in various 
Positions including being the Bank Economist for 3 and half years and an 
International Trade Trainee and Chief Dealer Money Market for 4 years. 
He holds a Masters’ Degree in Banking and Finance from Fondanzione 
Dell’amore (FINAFRICA) Italy, ACI Dealing Certificate in Foreign and 
Money Market Trading and a Bachelor of Social Science with a major in 
Economics
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Lekani Leslie Katandula 
BAC, ACCA, CFA, CISA 

Director

Mr. Lekani Leslie Katandula was appointed to the Board of Ethanol 
Company Limited on 1st July 2017. He is currently working as Financial 
Director for Illovo Sugar Malawi plc since 3 August 2015. Prior to that 
he worked with Deloitte for 19 years where he held several posi-
tion in including being the Professional Practice Director for Deloitte 
Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe He was also a Lead partner in Deloitte 
Corporate Finance, liquidator of Air Malawi Limited and an Audit 
Partner for 11 years serving various clients including Reserve Bank of 
Malawi, Press Corporation plc, National Bank of Malawi plc, FDH Bank, 
Telekom Networks Malawi plc, Nampak Malawi limited , United General 
Insurance. He holds a Bachelors of Accountancy from University of 
Malawi. He is also ACCA qualified, CFA Charter holder, CISA qualified 
and is currently studying for his MBA with Bradford University (UK).

Lusubilo Chakaniza 
BSc (Physics), MSc Renewable Energy & Architecture 

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mrs. Lusubilo Chakaniza is the Chief Executive Officer of Ethanol 
Company Limited. In February 2019, Mrs. Chakaniza was appointed as 
an Executive Director on the Board of Ethanol Company Limited. She 
joined the Company in October 2002 as a Management Trainee, after 
working as a Physics and Energy Academic Lecturer with the University 
of Malawi for five years from 1997. In 2004, she was confirmed as a 
Plant Supervisor and later delegated the duties of a Safety Health and 
Environment Coordinator. She held these two responsibilities for 5 
years before being promoted to Process Engineer in 2009. In January 
2012, she was further promoted to the position of Production Manager. 
She has held the position of Chief Executive Officer since July 2014, 
after having acted on the role for six months between January and June 
2014. 
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Directors’ Conflicts of interest

All Directors are expected to declare any interests deemed to be in conflict with their ap-
pointment and objectives of the business. As such, declaration of interest is made as and when 
there are any developments which may conflict with their appointment. Any related party 
transactions are treated at arm’s length.

Board Responsibilities 

The Board of Directors is involved throughout the entire process of strategy development, 
including revision, approval and updating of the purpose, value and mission statements. The 
mission, vision and core values are the building blocks of the business strategy and shape the 
way business is conducted. It is the Chief Executive Officer’s role to ensure that new strate-
gies and policies are implemented throughout the organization. The Chief Executive Officer 
has responsibility over the company’s sustainability strategy and is supported by the Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

Board Evaluation 

Evaluation of the Board of Directors takes place on an annual basis. Each member of the 
board conducts a self-evaluation which is analyzed, compiled and discussed during the last 
Board meeting of a financial year. Included in the evaluation is a general assessment of the 
Directors’ performance.

Remuneration policies

EthCo has a Remuneration Policy which is applied consistently for the remuneration 
of Directors, Management and all members of staff. The Appointment and Remuneration 
Committee is actively involved in determining remuneration of Executives. The Executives are 
in turn responsible for determining remuneration of all other staff in line with board mandate. 
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Chief Executive Officer 

Mrs. Lusubilo Chakaniza joined 
the Company in October 2002 
as a Management Trainee, af-
ter working as a Physics and 
Energy Academic Lecturer with 
the University of Malawi for 
five years from 1997. In 2004, 
she was confirmed as a Plant 
Supervisor and later delegated 
the duties of a Safety Health 
and Environment Coordinator. 
She held these two responsi-
bilities for 5 years before being 
promoted to Process Engineer 
in 2009. In January 2012, she 
was further promoted to the 
position of Production Manager. 
She has held the position of 
Chief Executive Officer since 
July 2014, after having acted on 
the role for six months between 
January and June 2014. 

Operations Manager 

Mr. Zamaere joined the 
Company on 01st September 
2014 after working for 
Improchem (SA) Limited for 
almost 12 years as a Country 
representative. Prior to this job, 
he worked for Unilever Malawi 
where he started off as a man-
agement trainee in 1996 and 
rose to heading the Product 
Development Department and 
Quality Assurance Department 
between 1998 and December 
2002. Mr. Zamaere is a 
Chartered Chemist and has vast 
experience in Manufacturing 
and Project Management.

Chief Finance Officer 

Mr. Chavura joined the Company 
in March 2014 as Acting Chief 
Finance Officer. He has over 15 
years of internal audit experi-
ence, obtained when he worked 
for Press Corporation Limited 
as Senior Auditor from 2004 
to 2014 and Malawi Savings as 
Internal Auditor Officer from 
1999 to 2004. He also possess-
es external audit experience 
obtained when he worked for 
Mwenelupembe Mhango and 
Company (Certified Public 
Accountant). In October 2014, 
Mr. Chavura was confirmed as 
Chief Finance Officer for the 
Company. 

Lusubilo Chakaniza 
BSc (Physics), MSc Renewable 
Energy & Architecture 

Derek Zamaere
BSC (Hons) Chemistry, CChem

Tiyenkhu Chavura
FCCA

19ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED | Sustainability Report |



EthCo strives to provide a safe, healthy, and 
conducive environment to ensure stakehold-
er satisfaction, business continuity and safe 
products for consumers. This is achieved 
through implementation of an Enterprise 
Risk Management System (ERM), to man-
age identified risks associated with our op-
erations in line with our Strategic Plan. The 
Company has subsequently committed itself 
to the following key principles:

•	 Protecting the environment through 
pollution prevention, sustainable use 
of resources, protection of biodi-
versity and ecosystem, and climate 
change mitigation and adaptation. In 
addition, EthCo provides safe and 
healthy working conditions in order 
to prevent work related injuries and 
ill health; 

•	 Implementing and maintaining a 
Health Surveillance system which 
includes but is not limited to ensur-
ing that employees undergo period-
ic medical examination for tracking 
work related illnesses;

•	 Providing leadership and resources 
for establishment, implementation 
and continual improvement of a 
comprehensive and successful ERM 
system in line with the Company’s 
strategic plan;

•	 Ensuring that all operations, pro-
cesses, products made and services 
provided comply with customer 
and consumer safety requirements, 

company requirements, applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements 
and that they are consistent with 
the requirements of ISO 9001:2015, 
ISO 14001:2015, OHSAS:2007,  ISO 
31000:2009, ISO 22000:2005, ISO/TS 
22002-1 and ISO 22301:2012;

•	 Ensuring that resources are provided 
and that employees are skilled, com-
petent and trained to perform their 
tasks and roles in line with the com-
pany requirements and applicable re-
quirements; 

•	 Enhancing both internal and external 
engagement, consultations and com-
munication in order to understand 
and determine factors appropriate 
to its operations as well as strategic 
direction;

•	 Defining and communicating the 
Company’s goals, objectives and tar-
gets appropriate to its operations 
and ensuring that its business prac-
tices are geared towards achieving 
the set goals while sharing, reward-
ing and celebrating its performance 
in that respect; and

•	 Reviewing this Policy, Strategic Goals, 
Business Plans, Business Continuity 
Programmes, Objectives and Targets 
annually or as and when the need 
arises in order to ensure continual 
improvement of the ERM System, 
stakeholders’ satisfaction and attain-
ment of business growth.
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Compliance Risk Management

EthCo has a zero-tolerance policy for 
non-compliance and unethical conduct, and 
has embedded compliance risk within the 
business system. The Risk Officer’s office in 
liaison with Heads of Departments are re-
sponsible for following up on all compliance 
issues, which are monitored on a monthly 
basis. 

EthCo maintains a legal register of applicable 
legal and other requirements and how they 
are addressed by the company. EthCo has 
gone a step further on this aspect by engang-
ing an external consultant once every 3 years 
to conduct a compliance assessment on the 
company. 

The Board reviews risk reports on a quar-
terly basis.  In order for employees to report 
critical concerns, EthCo has mechanisms 
within its risk management system to enable 
this. Where there are incidences of opera-
tional failures, employees can report such 

incidences of non-compliance to their super-
visors. Specific risks are assessed in terms of 
type – for example, whether they are compli-
ance-related or reputational.  Any gaps identi-
fied are communicated to the Board.

Among others EthCo ensures compliance 
with the following key laws of Malawi:

•	 Employment Act
•	 Welfare Act
•	 Environmental Management Act
•	 Water Resources Act 
•	 Energy Act

The Malawi Bureau of Standards (a statu-
tory authority) provides standards to guide 
industries for specific products. For ethanol 
production, EthCo follows specifications set 
by the Malawi Standard MS 573. In addition, 
Local Authorities perform routine inspec-
tions and audits of the business, to ensure 
EthCo is compliant with all relevant legal re-
quirements, licensing specifications and oper-
ational requirements. 
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Sustainability Strategy

Sustainability is a key strategic pillar to the operations of EthCo in line with the objective of 
its business operations and practices. EthCo’s approach is to ensure environmental and social 
issues are embedded in how the company creates value for stakeholders. EthCo’s sustain-
ability strategy rests upon maintaining and adhering to international standards such as ISO 
9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and OHSAS 18001:2007 to manage environmental and social 
aspects of the business. More importantly, EthCo places great emphasis on compliance with 
local laws, regulations, standards and other best practices that ensure business sustainability.

Sustainability Governance

EthCo’s Executive Management Team is responsible for the governance of economic, environ-
mental and social related matters. The Risk Officer who liaises with Heads of Departments 
and reports directly to the CEO is actively involved in operational management of sustain-
ability related matters.  A quarterly risk report is presented to the Finance,  Audit and Risk 
Committee before being presented to the Board. 

At company level the Risk Management Committee comprising of departmental represen-
tatives meets monthly to discuss risk issues including sustainability impacts upon gathering 
input from employees. The company’s monthly operations report incorporates risk profile 
and sustainability matters. 

The Board periodically defines the company’s risk appetite and on a quarterly basis, 
Management presents the risk position in relation to this appetite and other sustainability 
matters through the Finance,  Audit and Risk Committee.  

Stakeholder Engagement 

We continuously work towards improving our understanding of the business environment 
we operate in.  As a way for us to do so, we have created an ongoing learning culture from the 
networks that we have established with various stakeholders. The insights provided by these 
stakeholders help us to align our strategy with their expectations and interests accordingly.

In 2018, the results of our internal and external stakeholder analysis, provided rich informa-
tion which was used to develop our 2019 - 2023 strategy. 

Stakeholder Engagement Process

Stakeholders were identified by mapping out existing relationships within EthCo’s business 
environment. The selected stakeholders are all entities that EthCo is currently involved with 
through its operations. Besides our existing relations, we also continuously scan for other 
stakeholder group within our region that could in any way be impacted by our business. 
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Materiality and Reporting Practice

The prioritization of identified sustainability topics was considered on the basis of impacts 
of the company on each sustainability challenge and whether they influence stakeholders. 
Sustainability topics were mapped out for prioritization using a materiality matrix. The lessons 
learned from various engagements with stakeholders supported the results of the matrix.  
Additionally the process of identifying our sustainability topics includes a mapping of the sus-
tainability context EthCo operates in. Our compliance with national, international and sector 
specific standards related to sustainability, provides basics for this. The sustainability context 
is enriched by broadening the scope for certain topics, including the indirect sustainability 
impact from our main suppliers. Despite being an independent entity, our production process 
is interwoven with those of key raw material suppliers and therefore, to picture the reality, 
we report on this as well.  

Materiality Process Outcomes

Topics were evaluated on their significance to stakeholder’s assessments and decisions, as 
well as internal stakeholders’ perceived economic, social and environmental impacts of the 
organization. The materiality process was conducted at various stages spanning from con-
cerns of key stakeholders, Heads of Departments and finally the Executive Management team. 
Final material topics were approved by the Executive Management team.

Materiality Matrix

Reporting Practice

EthCo endeavors to be a trusted leader in the ethanol production sector. By building on the 
business’ core values and principles, the company maintains trust in its brand and reduces risk 
throughout its operations. Using the risk management system, sustainability opportunities 
and risks are systematically identified, monitored and reported. The process of identifying 
sustainability topics includes mapping of the sustainability context for EthCo. Furthermore, 
the company also identifies any specific sustainability trends in the industry and developments 
within the Malawi business enviroment for reporting. Stakeholder engagement plays a critical 
function in mapping the sustainability context and topics while providing a strong tool for 
identifying any unaddressed concerns the company may not be aware of.
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EthCo’s Annual Report is prepared for a period of 12 months consistent with the financial 
year end. 

Report Data

The report utilised both quantitative and qualitative data and information on significant top-
ics on social, environmental and economic issues considered material and of interest to our 
stakeholders for accountability. Understanding the sustainability context enriched the broad 
scope of topics, enabling us to ensure appropriate data has been collected for the purpose of 
this report and management decisions. 
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Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS)

EthCo is committed to providing a safe and 
conducive work environment to all em-
ployees as indicated in its Risk Management 
Policy. As such, EthCo implements a Health 
and Safety management system as part of 
its companywide Risk Management system. 
The health and safety management system 
is based on BS OHSAS 18001: 2007 and lo-
cal regulations, and has been certified since 
2014 by NQA Africa. The company is cur-
rently planning to migrate from BS OHSAS 
18001:2007 to the new ISO 45001:2018 by 
end of 2020. Further information on occu-
pational health and safety is given under the 
‘Social Performance’ section of the report.

Anti-corruption

One of EthCo’s core values is integrity, 
therefore issues of corruption and fraud 
are taken seriously. EthCo’s commitment is 
also reinforced by a zero tolerance to rep-
utational and compliance risks. In Malawi, 
corruption management is mandated to the 
Anti-Corruption Bureau through the Anti-
Corruption Act which defines corruption as;

a. The offering, giving, receiving, obtain-
ing or soliciting of any advantage to 
influence the action of a public offi-
cer or any official or any other per-
son in the discharge of the duties 
that officer.

b. Influence peddling.
c. The extortion of any advantage.  

Risk of corruption and fraud is assessed 
throughout the company as malpractice can 
occur in any operation of the business. In line 
with this, EthCo maintains that the preven-
tion, detection and reporting of fraud is the 
responsibility of all employees.  Management 
is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal controls and for the pre-

vention of fraud, misappropriation of assets, 
and other violations of company policies and 
procedures.  Management is also responsi-
ble for ensuring that firm and consistent ac-
tion is taken against any individual or group 
perpetrating fraud concerning the company. 
Any cases of corruption or fraud have se-
rious consequences such as termination of 
contract and criminal investigations in accor-
dance with the law depending on the nature 
and gravity of the malpractice.  

In order to check the effectiveness of inter-
nal controls for various risks including fraud 
and corruption, the company undergoes au-
dits to provide assurance. Furthermore, all 
stakeholders can report any incidents of cor-
ruption or fraud anonymously through a well 
established Tips-Off Anonymous facility that 
the company subscribes to. In 2018, there 
was one case in which an employee was se-
riously warned  for not reporting a potential  
corruption incident. There were no contract 
termination or lawsuits against the company 
arising from corruption or fraud issues. 

EthCo has communicated the organisation’s 
anti-corruption and fraud policies to the fol-
lowing:

a. Governance body
b. Employees
c. Business partners (including ser-

vice providers, suppliers, business in 
which EthCo has invested/is a share-
holder)

There were no specific trainings undertaken 
by EthCo’s governance body or employees in 
relation to anti-corruption in 2018. 

Customer Health and Safety 
EthCo is aware of the health and safety risks 
of ethanol consumption and usage as such 
the company continually assesses the health 
and safety impact of all its products. Since 
EthCo’s relationship with the end consumer 
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is separated by multiple tiers, there are cur-
rently no direct initiatives to advise consum-
ers.  However, national regulation mandates 
that alcoholic beverages cannot be purchased 
by those under the age of 18. In 2018, EthCo 
introduced a policy that required assessing 
whether business customers had valid licens-
ing to sell liquor before supplying them with 
any product.

The company provides comprehensive guid-
ance to all direct customers on handling and 
storage of its products to prevent contami-
nation and other incidents such as environ-
mental pollution and fire hazards. For the end 
consumer, these risks are slightly diminished. 

Maintaining compliance with legal, statutory 
and customer requirements is in line with 
EthCo’s zero tolerance policy for reputa-
tional risks and hence the company provides 
the necessary resources to achieve this goal. 
Regular monitoring and evaluation of the 
products ensures product quality, in addition 
to routine visits from the Malawi Bureau of 
Standards, who inspect EthCo’s facilities and 
test the product for compliance. These mea-
sures provide ongoing assurance that EthCo 
produces ethanol in line with national legal 
requirements as well as customer require-
ments. There were no instances of regulatory 
non-compliance concerning the health and 
safety of EthCo’s ethanol in 2018.

Supply chain

Supply chain management is important to 
EthCo since it has a direct influence on the 
quality of the final product. The procurement 
department is responsible for managing re-
lationships with suppliers using specific sys-
tems to ensure that reputational and opera-
tional risks are minimized. Maintaining close 
relationships with suppliers is a distinctive 
characteristic of our operations as it builds 
reputational trust and guarantees the quality 
and availability of our products. 

The main raw material for ethanol produc-
tion is molasses. For this reason, it is very 
common that ethanol producing companies 
are located next to sugar  producing facto-
ries, since molasses is a downstream prod-
uct from sugar production. EthCo is situated 
close to its main supplier Dwangwa Sugar 
Corporation who supplies molasses, steam 
and water. Some of EthCo’s waste water is 
channeled into Illovo’s drainage and treat-
ment system before using it for irrigating 
sugarcane fields. Within the year 2018 there 
were no significant changes in our supply 
chain, since all contracts with critical suppli-
ers remained stable. Our business has addi-
tional suppliers that provide coal for boilers, 
chemicals, spares and specific services such 
as audits, security and technical support.

26ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED | Sustainability Report |



Responsible Production

EthCo has a batch type fermentation system 
which until 2007 used an azeotropic form of 
distillation to produce Fuel Ethanol. The plant 
was revamped between 2008 and 2009 to a 
multi-effect extractive distillation unit to pro-
duce Extra Neutral Alcohol (ENA). A mod-
ern and environmentally friendly molecular 
sieve technology that employs a technique 
that separates ethanol and water molecules  
based on their size, was installed for the pro-
duction of Fuel Ethanol. EthCo is the sole 
producer of potable alcohol for the beverage 
and pharmaceutical industries for the entire 
country.

All products produced by EthCo, meet the 
requirements set out in the Malawi Standards 
(MS 573:2002) The company has gone fur-
ther to improve the quality of its food grade 
Extra Neutral Alcohol (ENA) and it currently 
meets EU quality standards. In line with its 
mission, the company is aiming at the pro-
duction of a product that consintently meets 
world class ENA quality.

Environmental Compliance

Ethanol Company Limited is aware of the en-
vironmental issues associated with produc-

tion of alcohol – namely the potential for im-
pact on our local surroundings from effluent 
emanating from its production process. We 
ensure that our distillery effluent is disposed 
responsibly in evaporation ponds which meet 
Malawi’s Environmental Regulations. Once 
dried, the sludge from the ponds, which is 
very rich in nutrients, is delivered for free to 
farmers within 20 km radius for use in their 
gardens.  The company is working at creat-
ing value from this initiative by investing in a 
treatment plant that will mechanically drive 
the effluent to produce a low cost organic 
fertilizer targerting farmers within our com-
munity. 

The company has made a commitment to 
continually improve its environmental per-
formance and has implemented an environ-
mental management system in line with the 
requirements of the ISO 14001 standard. In 
addition to this we regularly have interactions 
with our environmental stakeholders such as 
the Environmental Affairs Department, gov-
ernment and local communities. EthCo also 
funds environmental protection and reha-
bilitation initiatives such as the national tree 
planting activity. EthCo had no instances of 
non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulation in 2018. 
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Materials

EthCo strives to utilize its production facilities in a manner which allows efficient use of 
resources. The company sources materials and services using procedures set out in its 
Procurement Policy which provides strict procurement guidelines.  A supplier qualification 
exercise is carried out every 3 years to ensure thal all suppliers meet EthCo’s procurement 
requirements. Below we have listed the main materials used in our production process, with 
an explanation of the impact, boundary and management approach for each one. Evaluation 
of the impact of these materials occurs on an ongoing basis, and at an in-depth level during 
our annual risk assessment review. 

Cane Molasses

Molasses is the main ingredient in the ethanol pro-
duction process. Cane molasses is a by-product of 
sugar production, as such, it is also a renewable re-
source.  EthCo can recover between 240 to 270 
liters of ethanol per tonne of molasses depending 
on the quality of the raw material.  The molasses is 
pumped from a storage tank within the supplier’s 
premises to EthCo’s facilities through a pipe. The 
tank and transfer pipe undergo routine maintenance 
to ensure integrity and prevent leaks which can lead 
to pollution and loss of the material.  Additional mo-
lasses is also sourced from other suppliers and it is 
transported through bulk tankers. 

In 2018, EthCo had three sources of molasses as 
illustrated in the chart.

Impacts, Risks and Management

Due to its composition and texture, molasses can pose an environmental and safety risk in 
case of spillage. It can impact aquatic life, soil quality and traffic safety.  When using tankers 
to transport molasses over long distances, EthCo outsources haulage of molasses and the 
contract with transporters covers risk management issues. 

Chemicals
EthCo uses a variety of chemicals in the ethanol production process, the management of 
which is the responsibility of the stores and quality control departments. 
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In 2018, an internal assessment conclud-
ed that the usage of sulphuric acid in large 
volumes had a significant risk on employee 
safety and the environment if a spillage oc-
curred.  This chemical has now been removed 
from the production process and has been 
replaced with enzymes that have a negligible 
negative impact.

Impacts, Risks and Management

The usage of chemicals in our production 
process carries the risk of negative environ-
mental impact in case of spillage, as well as 
health and safety hazards to employees and 
local communities.  EthCo has the following 
specific procedures and policies in place to 
minimize such risks: 

a. A specific reporting system to identi-
fy and report spillages.

b. A dedicated storage area, for chem-
icals that is specifically designed, in 
case of spillage, to allow collection at 
one point, ensuring minimal external 
contamination and risk of impacting 
the soil and local environment.

c. Chemical procedures that minimize 
leakage risks and ensure storage 
conditions that do not affect the 
containers.

d. Employee awareness activities on 
chemical handling to ensure under-
standing of the severity of the haz-
ardous nature of the materials in-
volved.

e. Strict chemical handling procedures 
provided by suppliers, along with 
guidelines for usage, transportation 
and management. 

f. Material safety datasheets providing 
guidelines for chemical storage and 
what to do in case of spillage.

Goals and targets for materials used

EthCo’s goals and targets on usage of mate-
rials are aligned with budget planning for the 
production year. During 2018, the target of 
molasses was 258 litres per ton against the 
actual usage of 265 litres per ton.

Ethanol Packaging

Ethanol is a raw material used by a variety of 
actors further down the supply chain to turn 
the product into a finished product for the 
end consumers. As a result of this, our prod-
uct is sold in bulk volumes, with a minimum 
order of 1000L in tankers that are provid-
ed either by EthCo or our customers and in 
drums provided by the customers. 

EthCo provides specific usage and safety in-
structions for its customers through material 
safety datasheets and quality certificates.  

Reclamation of materials

EthCo’s reclamation system involves use of  
supplier tankers and returnable drums. 

Water
Water is an integral part of EthCo’s business. 
Our strategy on water management is to re-
use and recycle waste water throughout our 
production process. Water for the factory is 
supplied by a third party which draws it from 
Lake Malawi, while EthCo extracts, processes 
and provides water for residential area which 
is extracted from Dwangwa River.

Impacts, risks and management

The main risks associated with water supply 
and usage relates to continuity of supply as 
EthCo is currently relying on a third party. 
There are currently no specific risks regard-
ing shortages of water or water stress due 
to availability of the Lake and consistent good 
rainfall pattern. EthCo conducts risk assess-
ments which are reviewed monthly. There 
are also routine audits and inspections by the 
Environmental Affairs Department and Water 
Resources Authority aimed at assessing our 
compliance to regulations. EthCo maintains a 
good working relationship with the supplier 
of water.  The supplier implements a water 
stewardship program and we are constantly 
engaged on water resource management.  

Water withdrawal

Water abstraction rights are regulated and 
provided by the Malawi Government through 
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the Water Resources Authority. Within the 
region, Lake Malawi is the main fresh water 
resource and it provides local companies and 
communities with water.

Water is one of the main resources need-
ed during the fermentation stage of pro-
ducing ethanol. Since our operations are in 
a rural area, industrial pollution, as seen in 
bigger cities, does not impact our business. 
Nevertheless, we follow the water from its 
source, throughout the production process 
and its discharge, ensuring that procedures 
are followed according to regulatory re-
quirements. 

The ethanol manufacturing process requires 
high water usage.  This can be minimised only 
by reusing and recycling some of the water.  
As such, Management is currently develop-
ing a sustainability (Reduce, Reuse, Recover, 
Recycle and Dispose) policy which is expect-
ed to be ready by the end of the year 2019. 
The most significant loss of water is in the 
cooling system and cleaning activities and 
this is an aspect to be addressed in the 4RD 
approach yet to be implemented.

Consistent supply of water is critical for our 
production process.  EthCo has hence identi-
fied this as a risk which needs to be mitigated 

Discharge of water

Discharge of water is regulated by the 
Malawi Government which enforces ef-
fluent discharge regulations through the 
Environmental Affairs Department. EthCo 
discharges its non-product contact effluent 
into a storm water drain which leads into a 
treatment facility before the water is used 
for irrigation in sugarcane fields. The quality 
of the water meets applicable discharge re-
quirements.

Some of the water that is used in the plant 
ends up being discharged as Vinasse (efflu-
ent produced from the distillation plant) is 
discharged into licensed evaporation ponds 
where it is dried through natural evapora-
tion.  The dried sludge is rich in potassium 
and used as organic fertilizer by local farm-
ers in the surrounding communities.

The risks of effluent management include 
seepage and overflow which can pollute the 
environment; EthCo is exploring the installa-
tion of effluent management solution which 
will include an effluent evaporation plant 
including an effluent treatment solution in 
the form of a Concentrated Molasses Solids 
(CMS) Plant. The plant would produce or-
ganic fertilizer rich in potassium and clean 
effluent, and is expected to be installed by 
December 2020. 
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Energy
EthCo’s electricity supply is from the national 
utility company (ESCOM) and its own stand-
by generators. 

Usage is determined based on monthly me-
ter readings from both sources. 

EthCo’s steam energy consumption comes 
from two sources: 

•	 Energy supplied by Dwangwa Sugar 
mill, which serves up to between 80 
and 90% of EthCo’s energy require-
ments. The mill  uses bagasse (waste 
from sugar cane production) as bio-
mass fuel to produce this energy.  
The sugar mill charges for its sup-
ply to EthCo based on steam meter 
readings.

•	 Energy produced from EthCo’s coal 
fired boilers makes up for the re-
maining 10-20% of staem require-
ments.  Coal usage is quantified by 
use of a weighing scale. 

From a sustainability perspective, EthCo ac-
knowledges the environmental impact of us-
ing coal and tries to minimize its usage.

Target Setting 

Target-setting at EthCo is centered on our 
core business, and finalized before the start 
of each business year. Targets are structured 
in a way that allows EthCo to set specific pa-
rameters for energy consumption in terms of 
quantities needed to produce ethanol – cur-
rently targets are structured in the following 
format: 

•	 Electricity usage at 0.30 kwh/Litre 
with the actual for FY2018 being 
0.27 kwh/litre of ethanol

•	 the amount of steam needed to pro-
duce one litre of ethanol at 300 li-
tres/ ton of steam and the actual was 
302 litres/ton of steam used 

Evaluation 

Evaluation of EthCo’s targets on energy con-
sumption are performed after the business 
year, but monthly evaluations do occur. 

Energy Consumption within EthCo

EthCo’s energy consumption per litre of eth-
anol produced remained consistent through-
out 2018, but total energy consumption was 
higher than previous years due to a longer 
production process and greater output. 
Below was our energy consumption

Steam Energy loss within the production process does occur, due to system risks such as 
leaks. However, when such risks or occurrences are identified within the production process, 
they are immediately located and fixed by our boiler operators, who undergo certified train-
ing to address them.

The company focuses on preventing any energy loss through leakage in the production sys-
tem. However, EthCo has general policies in place across the organization to reduce everyday 
energy consumption such as: 

•	 Installing energy saving bulbs throughout the premises. 
•	 Enforcing a culture of switch off lights and electrical items when leaving the office.

Energy Consumption outside the Organisation

Electrical energy consumed outside the company lies within the residential area for employ-
ees supplied through a national grid. This energy usage is monitored through a meter, which is 
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checked and billed at the end of each month through an invoice from the supplier.

Currently, the company provides power and water to the company owned staff housing com-
pound as a limit free benefit. Having realised that this is a potential cost optimisation area, 
the company is working at moving from an industrial tariff based system to domestic tariff  
system that will assist in monitoring usage and control at household level to minimise utility 
consumption.

The increase in total is among other factors due to increased electricity tariffs by the supplier.
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Our People
Employees of EthCo are the most important asset in helping to create value for all stakehold-
ers. The company ensures that employees are well motivated and their welfare is taken care 
of to enable maximum productivity. Our employees are instrumental in identifying risks, op-
portunities and innovations for the company.  As part of its strategy the company introduced 
a value improvement and innovation program which invloves generation and implementation 
of ideas by employees in all department. Ideas that require management’s attention are esca-
lated. In view of this, EthCo ensures that it creates an environment where employees feel val-
ued and contribute to the success of the company. There is also a staff trade union at EthCo 
representing the interests of 30% of its employees.

Employee Base 

In 2018, the employee establishment consisted 91 employees.

Data on employees is maintained by the Human Resources and Administration Department 
who manage all employee matters. The Department provides management with monthly re-
ports on employees and actions required where necessary.  The department is responsible 
for processing employees’ salaries and maintaining a register of all employees.

Employee Welfare

EthCo offers a variety of remuneration benefits for its employees, including:

•	 Contributory Pension Scheme (5% by employees on their basic pay and 15% compa-
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ny contribution based on employees’ basic pay)
•	 100% medical cover to all employees, and 50% medical contribution towards 1 spouse 

and children (4 bona-fide dependents)
•	 Subsidized accommodation for all employees (this includes utilities - water and elec-

tricity, and transport to and from work)
•	 Annual leave (total leave days vary dependent on position)
•	 3 months paid maternity leave (in 2018, one employee took maternity leave).

Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)
We are committed to provide a safe and conducive work environment for employees and 
on-site contractors as indicated in the Risk Management Policy. As such, EthCo implements a 
Health and Safety management system as part of its companywide Risk Management system. 
The health and safety management system is based on BS OHSAS 18001:2007 and it has 
been certified since 2014 by NQA Africa. The company is currently planning to migrate from 
BS OHSAS 18001:2007 to the ISO 45001:2018 by the end of 2020.  Apart from aligning with 
international standards, the health and safety management system is also aligned with national 
health and safety regulations (Occupational Health and Safety Welfare Act (1997)) under the 
Ministry of Labour. The scope of EthCo’s OHS management system covers the activities of 
employees and workers present on our premises, but does not cover activities occurring on 
the premises of our suppliers.

OHS Management Approach

EthCo employs risk identification procedures to assess, identify and control risks and hazards. 
The process involves applying specifically designed task based assessment templates and proj-
ect risk assessment forms. In this exercise, the Risk Officer coordinates the overall processes 
to ensure that they are effective. EthCo involves employees themselves in identifying the 
hazards and risks which are then reported to Heads of Departments for recording in the risk 
registers. Employees also have an direct access to the Risk Officer to report any identified 
risks and hazards. Secondly, risk assessments are also conducted on all projects done either 
internally or sub-contracted to a service provider. In this regard, the risk assessments are 
done prior to commencement of the project to ensure safety and health of workers involved. 
The Risk Officer in liaison with the Head of the concerned Department ensures that the 
assessments are completed and that all required forms are approved.

Once risks or hazards are identified, EthCo applies the international hierarchy of controls 
to ensure that employees’ and contratcors exposure to such risks and hazards are reduced 
or eliminated.  The controls include elimination of identified hazards and risks by improving 
machinery, processes or work environment and other engineering initiatives, training and 
awareness on employees, contract workers and other stakeholders and provision of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) such as safety boots, wetsuits, earplugs, safety goggles, crash hel-
mets, safety belts, ear muffs etc.

The company has emergency plans which enable effective response to emergencies that oc-
cur in its operations. These include availability of trained first aiders, trained firefighting team, 
emergency alarms and emergency reporting and response procedures. In addition, the com-
pany has been developing a Business Continuity Management System, whose requirements 
include incident resilience and crisis management. Once completed, the system will improve 
incidents management procedures significantly.  

In order to avoid complication in the reporting process for incidents, reporting is done in 
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person or via phone calls to supervisors, Head of Department and the Risk Officer. EthCo 
maintains an incident register for recording all reported incidents. Once reported, incident 
investigation processes are triggered by appointing of an incidents investigation team whose 
mandate is to effectively investigate the incident within 72 hours.

OHS Incidents

Incidences were as follows for 2017 and 2018 financial years

Employee OHS Welfare

To effectively manage employee health, EthCo conducts baseline and routine medical ex-
aminations to employees within a week after recruitment and thereafter annually.  Specific 
periodic medical examinations are conducted based on exposure levels to various hazards 
and risks for each employee. These are done at a registered clinic and the costs are covered 
by EthCo.

EthCo also has a Group Life Assurance policy for all employees to enable appropriate com-
pensation on injuries or occupational illnesses. 

Employee Health and Welfare

Management appreciates employee health as critical to employee productivity. EthCo pro-
vides 100% medical cover to all employees. There is a clinic owned by Illovo within the estate 
to which employees have full access. Employee family members are provided with 50% health-
care cover (includes spouses + 4 children). 

Employee Participation in OHS

Management established various ways to ensure employees are fully engaged on OHS.  These 
include departmental meetings, annual employee engagement surveys, weekly toolbox meet-
ings, training, awareness activities, employees’ performance evaluation, bi-annual management 
review meetings and monthly OHS committee meetings. Management has also established 
joint risk management committees with employee representatives, who meet at regular inter-
vals to evaluate and discuss the effectiveness of the risk management system overall, including 
Health and Safety. 

Employee Training on OHS

Training of employees is critical in EthCo’s operations. Management ensures that all employ-
ees are trained and competent to perform their duties as required in a safe manner. Training 
needs for each employee are identified during the performance assessment process in which 
a Balanced Scorecard (BSC) system is used. Secondly, training needs are also identified by the 
Risk Officer based on specific work-related hazards and hazardous situations, while some 
trainings for health and safety are generic.

EthCo has trained first aiders and fire-fighting teams which undergo regular training to en-
sure that they are competent. to handle emergency situations. 
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Training and Education

For the company to achieve its purpose of producing and selling high-quality ethanol prod-
ucts,, it requires well trained, skilled and experienced employees in line with our strategy and 
values. In the end, it is EthCo’s employees that need to internalize these values, integrate them 
through our operations and set examples for newcomers. EthCo’s approach is to recruit 
qualified people and provide training to build capacity among its employees. Our strategy 
supports and feeds directly into the yearly training objectives. 

All employees have access to training and education to ensure skills meet expected quality 
and performance. Employees receive general OHS training and, depending on the type of 
work, tailored training. Training takes place during working hours and are either internally or 
externally conducted. For some trainings, EthCo hires external service providers and sends 
its employees to the host institution for training. If numbers are large, service providers are 
invited to EthCo for the training.

Types of training: 

1. For the implementation of new regulations/standards for management systems that 
are focused on industry specific issues, employees are required to participate in an 
awareness trainings.

2. Training to improve employee skills: Individual training needs are first identified 
through performance management system. This system is used to link specific out-
comes of the performance assessment to training needs. This information feeds into 
the company’s annual training plan which is managed by the HR and Admin Office.. 
The annual training budget is estimated at 7% of employee costs.

In 2018, 6 women and 32 men trained in various training courses based on their needs which 
were identified during performance appraisal sessions. The current training plan does not 
capture the duration of trainings, hence an average amount of hours spent in training is not 
available for 2018. Going forward, we will endeavor to record this information and include it 
in future reporting. 

As it is known in advance which employees at EthCo are expected to retire, specific training 
needs are identified and appropriate training is provided to ensure effective succession plan-
ning. Retirement is regulated by the Pension Act, under the Ministry of Labour and employees 
can retire at the age of 60 years, or after 20 years of continuous service. 

For termination of employment (retrenchment/redundancy) EthCo follows the legal require-
ments predetermined by the law of the country.  Termination of employment in relation to 
disciplinary issues is performed in line with EthCo’s Conditions of Service. 

100% of employees receive yearly performance and career development reviews, indepen-
dent of gender or employee category. 

Product Responsibility 

EthCo places great emphasis on product responsibility to ensure that products are not haz-
ardous to society and human health. EthCo ensures that products are properly labeled and 
handled with due care.  All customers are provided with details and safety advice on handling 
products. EthCo engages retailers to ensure alcohol products do not end up in possession of 
underage members of the society.
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Ethanol flammability risks

Being a highly flammable product, EthCo has internal protection and prevention policies in 
place for the storage of ethanol products. These include:

•	 Fire awareness training for employees
•	 Dedicated fire-fighting unit with necessary equipment
•	 No smoking, open fires, lighters or matches allowed on site, with searches performed 

for visiting workers
•	 Work permit process for any welding/electrical activities onsite, or any other activi-

ties which carry a fire risk

There were no fire incidences in 2018, reflecting the effectiveness of our preventative safety 
measures and policies. 

Customer Health and Safety

EthCo provides comprehensive guidance to direct customers on handling and storage of eth-
anol to prevent contamination and other incidences such as environmental pollution and fire 
hazards.  EthCo is aware of the health risks of ethanol consumption and ethanol in general 
as the products are highly inflammable. Since EthCo’s relationship with the end consumer is 
separated by multiple tiers, there are currently no direct initiatives to advice final end user 
customers.  

Precautionary approaches to Customer Health and safety

EthCo has a zero tolerance for reputational risk; as such resources are made available to main-
tain product quality and compliance. Monitoring and evaluation of product quality and quality 
control procedures is managed through regular inspection by Malawi Bureau of Standards.  
This provide ongoing assurance that EthCo produces ethanol in line with legal and customer 
requirements. 

The company introduced a policy that requires assessing whether all customers have a valid 
license to sell liquor before supplying them with any products. All ethanol produced by EthCo 
(100% of products) is assessed for effects on customer health and safety. In 2018, there were 
no incidences of regulatory non-compliance. 

Economic Contributions
Malawi, in which EthCo operates, has been facing various economic and social challenges at 
both the domestic and global level, requiring us to consider how our business can effective-
ly contribute towards sustainable development. EthCo’s strategy is to build a competitive 
and resilient business that will continue to take advantage of business opportunities while 
innovating and developing the company for sustainability and sustainable development. The 
company deploys its human capital and resources towards economic value generation for the 
company and its stakeholders.

Economic Value Generated and Distributed

Economic value generated through sales is distributed in a strategic manner towards oper-
ating costs, employee welfare, capital investment, payments to government and community 
investment initiatives. Below is a value add statement reflecting how economic value was 
generated and distributed in line with the company’s business strategy:
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Defined Contribution Plan

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is maintained by Inde-
Trust/NBM Pension and Death Benefits Fund.  The Trustees of the fund have a deposit ad-
ministration contract with Inde-Trust Limited. During the year, total accrual for pension was 
MK122 million.

Corporate Social Responsibility Initiatives

EthCo’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) strategy focuses on making a sustainable and 
positive impact by allocating 1% of the annual budget to CSR initiatives. The company believes 
in acting on a clear responsibility to positively contribute to the sustainable socio-economic 
development programmes within Dwangwa, Nkhotakota District.  During the reporting year, 
the company was involved and contributed to the following:

Project Activities/Support
Education •	 Provided 100 desks worth MK4 million to a local primary school 

which has about 3,500 students. The school had various challenges, 
desks were much more critical and feasible to supply in line with 
available resources. A positive impact that was reported from this 
donation was that the school no longer hires desks from a nearby 
school during national exams, hence saving time and costs.

•	 Provided students from colleges and universities with internship 
programmes

Community Investment •	 Provided fuel to a police station in Dwangwa to enable mobility for 
ensuring security in the community.

•	 Maintenance of a police unit and road block. The police unit was 
constructed by EthCo some years back and continues to be main-
tained at planned intervals.

•	 Revamping of a borehole for a clinic which did not have water.  This 
project is ongoing as it has not been completed. Once completed, 
the clinic will have access to safe water and hence enabling better 
health services to the communities.
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Sport •	 Sponsored golf tournaments to enhance interaction among custom-
ers, suppliers and other stakeholders.

•	 Sponsored Tour De Dwangwa cycling competition in which cyclists 
from within the local community and other regions participated. 

•	 Support to EthCo’s social football club and Dwangwa United 
Football Team

Economic opportunity •	 Offered casual/temporary employment opportunities to local com-
munities to enable better socio-economic well-being.

Health •	 Participated in annual Estate HIV/Aids and Health and Safety com-
memoration events aimed at sensitising communities and employ-
ees, thereby reducing related risks and increasing productivity.

•	 Donating ethanol to hospitals for use as disinfectant to minimize the 
rate of infections in the target hospitals.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

Director’s Report
For the year ended 31 December 2018   

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial 
statements of Ethanol Company Limited for the year ended 31 December 2018.  

Nature of business and incorporation:     

Ethanol Company Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Malawi under the 
Companies Act, 2013 of Malawi. The company primarily is engaged in the production and 
sale of ethanol and associated products. The holding company is Press Corporation Limited, 
incorporated in Malawi. 

Financial performance:

The results and state of affairs of the company are set out in the accompanying statements 
of financial position, profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity, cash 
flows, significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Dividends were as follows: 2018
MK’000

2017
MK’000

Final dividend (prior year) 247,00 388,000

Number of ordinary shares 275,500 275,500
Preference shares 450 450

3,200 3,200

Dividend per share (MK) 155 141

The dividend payment for the year 2018 has been forgone in order to allow the company 
recover from the performance disruption as a result of a slump in the Extra Neutral Alcohol 
(ENA) market for the past two years.

J. Biziwick - Chairman Full year

E. Mafeni   - Member Full year

W. Mabulekesi - Member Full year

L. Mandala - Member  Full year

L. Katandula - Member Full year

B. W Jere - Member Full year
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G. Kambale - Member Full year

C. Masoatengenji - Company secretary Full year

Director’s emoluments: 

      2018  2017

  Director’s fees:   13,166  12,574

  Director’s expenses   13,570  10,662                                                  

      26,736  23,236

Registered office:  

Ethanol Company Limited, P.O. Box 50, DWANGWA     

Bankers and other financial institutions:

Standard Bank plc

NBS Bank plc

First Discount House

Continental Asset Management Limited

CDH Investment Bank Limited

National Bank of Malawi plc

NBM Capital Markets Limited

Nico Asset Managers Limited

Attorneys:

Sacraine Gow and Company, P.O. Box 5133, Limbe, Blantyre

Independent auditors:

KPMG

Nurses and Midwives Council of Malawi (Anamwino House), P.O. Box 30453,

Lilongwe 3

_____________________________                    ______________________________

  BOARD CHAIRMAN                                 AUTHORISED DIRECTOR

25th February 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

The Directors and management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the annual financial statements of Ethanol Company Limited, comprising the statement of fi-
nancial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statements of profit or loss and other com-
prehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2013 of Malawi.

The Act also requires the directors to ensure that the Company keeps proper account-
ing records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Company and ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 2013 of 
Malawi.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors accept responsibility for the following:

•	 Maintenance of proper accounting records;
•	 Selection of suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;
•	 Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	 Compliance with applicable accounting standards when preparing financial state-

ments, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in the finan-
cial statements; and

•	 Preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume the company will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsible for such internal controls as the directors determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error and for maintaining adequate accounting records 
and an effective system of risk management.

The Directors have assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have a 
reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going con-
cern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors have made an assessment and they attest to the adequacy of accounting re-
cords and effectiveness of the systems of internal controls and effective risk management for 
the Company. 

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act, of Malawi.
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Approval of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company, as indicated above, were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 25th February 2019 and are signed on its behalf by.

By order of the Board.

_____________________________   ______________________________

        BOARD CHAIRMAN           AUTHORISED DIRECTOR
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ethanol Company Limited set out on pages 6 
to 30 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view, of the financial position of 
the Ethanol Company Limited as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act 2013, of Malawi.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standard Board for Accountants Code 
for Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our ethical re-
sponsibilities in accordance with the IESBA code. We believe the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the Directors’ Report as required by the Companies Act 2013, of Malawi. The other informa-
tion does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially in-
consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other 
information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

44ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED | Sustainability Report |



Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act 2013, of Malawi and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the compa-
ny’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncer-
tainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

_________________________

Grant Thornton 

_________________________

Gordon Tembo

Chartered Accountant (Malawi) 

Partner

Lilongwe, Malawi

Date: __________________ 2019
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As at 31 December 2018

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha

     Note     2018      2017 

ASSETS   

Non-current assets   

Property, plant and equipment   7   2,719,714 3,297,010

Intangible assets     8       47,695     51,196

Long-term receivables   10             22,089     25,642

Total non-current assets     2,789,498 3,373,848

   

Current assets   

Inventories     9   1,302,250 1,002,082

Trade and other receivables  10   1,108,490 1,726,222

Amounts due from related parties 24           460       -

Cash and cash equivalents  11   2,125,739 1,841,611

Total current assets      4,536,939 4,569,915

    

Total assets       7,326,437 7,943,763

   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Equity   

Share capital    12         2,750      2,750

Revaluation reserve   13      691,080   764,595

Retained earnings   14   5,369,465 5,906,376

Total equity       6,063,295 6,673,721
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     Note     2018      2017

Non-current liabilities

Preference shares   12       450        450

Deferred tax liabilities   23   257,430  216,549

Total non-current liabilities              257,880            216,999

   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables  15   900,743   919,866

Provisions     16            -     11,690

Amounts due to related parties  24        618        -

Income tax payable   23      103,901     121,487

Total current liabilities            1,005,262        1,053,043

    

Total liabilities             1,263,142        1,270,042

         

Total equity and liabilities            7,326,437        7,943,763

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25th February 2019 
and were signed on its behalf by:

_____________________________                   _____________________________              
BOARD CHAIRMAN                                AUTHORISED DIRECTOR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha

     Note        2018     2017

Revenue         6,288,338   4,677,937

Costs of sales       (3,201,648) (1,903,891)

Gross profit         3,086,690  2,774,046
  

Other operating income  18        138,223     102,839

Distribution costs   19      (206,940)     (86,868)

Administrative expenses  20   (2,152,706) (1,830,817)

Other operating expenses  21   (1,031,751)            (540,501)

Results from operating activities        (166,484)      418,699
   

Finance income    22        187,375     275,324

Exchange gains    22            6,752       34,210

Finance costs    22           (5,542)       (1,645)

Net finance income                                                       188,585      307,889
   

Profit before income tax expenses           22,101     726,588

Income tax expenses   23      (193,673)     (13,907)
   

Profit for the year         (171,572)      712,681
   

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not reclassified to profit or loss   

Revaluation surplus       -     613,826

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus                 21,671   (154,727)

Total other comprehensive income                       21,671     459,099
   

Total comprehensive income for the year         (149,901) 1,171,780
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha

     Share   Revaluation Retained  Total
Year ended 31 December 2018  Capital   Reserve Earnings Equity  
 

Balance as at 1 January 2018  2,750  764,595  5,906,376 6,673,721

Prior year adjustments (refer to note 27)        -   (1,278)  (32,247)  (33,525)

Restated balance as at 1 January 2018        - 763,317  5,874,129 6,640,196

Total comprehensive income for the year    

Profit for the year                  -          -  (171,572) (171,572)

    

Other comprehensive income    

Revaluation surplus          -          -       -      -

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus        -          -           21,671         21,671

Total other comprehensive income        -          -           21,671          21,671

Total comprehensive income for the year   -          -   (149,901) (149,901)

    

Transfers within reserves    

Depreciation on revaluation surplus         -    (72,237)     72,237      -

    

Transaction with owners, recorded directly in equity -       -              -

Dividend to equity holders                  -              - (427,000) (427,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2018     2,750     691,080 5,369,465 6,063,295

    

Year ended 31 December 2017       

Balance as at 1 January 2017      2,750     420,286 5,466,905 5,889,941

Total comprehensive income for the year     

Profit for the year                  -            -      712,681   712,681
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     Share   Revaluation Retained  Total
     Capital   Reserve Earnings Equity

Other comprehensive income    

Revaluation surplus         -       613,826       -    613,826

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus       -      (154,727)       -  (154,727)

Total other comprehensive income       -        459,099       -     459,099

Total comprehensive income for the year   -        459,099     712,681 1,171,780

    

Transfers within reserves    

Depreciation on revaluation surplus         -      (114,790)     114,790        -

    

Transaction with owners, recorded directly in equity    

Dividend to equity holders                    -               -    (388,000)  (388,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2017      2,750       764,595    5,906,376  6,673,721
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha

      Note      2018    2017

Operating activities   

Profit before income tax         22,101    726,588

Adjustments for:   

•	 Net finance income    22  (188,585) (307.889)
•	 Depreciation       7    265,248   210,300
•	 Amortization       8        3,501     13,244
•	 Impairment losses in profit and loss       460,783          -
•	 Profit / (loss) on sale of property plant and equipment        5,301       3,401

          568,349  645,644

Change in long-term receivables          3,553      1,417

Change in trade and other receivables      617,732 (189,523)

Change in amounts due from related parties          (460) 1,083,649

Change in inventories      (300,166) (692,711)

Change in amounts due to related parties          (618)       -

Change in trade and other payables/provisions         30,813   194,787

Net cash from operating activities       919,203 1,043,263

    

Interest paid     22     (5,542)    (1,645)

Taxation paid     23  (182,226) (905,263)

Net cash generated in operating activities        731,435   136,355

   

Investing activities   

Interest received     22     187,375  275,324

Additions to property plant and equipment    7   (227,609) (651,729)

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment       13,175       3,556

Net cash used in investing activities         (27,059) (372,849)
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      Note      2018    2017

Financing activities   

Dividend paid       (427,000) (388,000)

Net cash used in financing activities    (427,000) (388,000)

   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent     277,375 (624,494)

Exchange gain             6,752    34,210

   

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year   1,841,611 2,431,895

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 11  2,125,739 1,841,611

   

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION   

 Increase in net working capital        330,295 (590,284)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Ethanol Company Limited is a private limited company incorporated in Malawi un-
der the Companies Act 2013 of Malawi. The address of the company’s registered 
office is Post Office Box 50 Dwangwa. The Company primarily is engaged in the pro-
duction and sale of ethanol and associated products. The holding company is Press 
Corporation Limited, incorporated in Malawi. The ultimate parent company is Press 
Trust, a Trust registered in Malawi. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a. Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) that were relevant to its operations and effective for ac-
counting periods beginning on 1 January 2018. These financial statements have also 
been prepared in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2013 of Malawi

b. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
trade and other receivables which is measured at amortized cost and property plant 
and equipment which is measured on a revalued amount basis on each reporting 

c. Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Malawi Kwacha which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All financial information presented in Malawi Kwacha have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand.

d. Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as directors 
have made assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

e. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements which are in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the applica-
tion of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected. Information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have significant 
effect on amounts recognized in the financial statements include the following notes: 

•	 Note 3.2 Assessment of useful lives and residual values
•	 Note 3.5 Impairment of assets
•	 Note 4.0 Determination of fair values

a. Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or dis-
closed in the financial statements.

i. New standards adopted as at 1 January 2018
The following new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations are effec-
tive for the year ended 31 December 2018 and have been applied in preparing these 
financial statements.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and the related ‘Clarifications 
to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (hereinafter referred to as 
‘IFRS 15’) replace IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, and several 
revenue-related Interpretations. The new Standard has been applied retrospectively 
without restatement, with the cumulative effect of initial application recognized as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2018. In accor-
dance with the transition guidance, IFRS 15 has only been applied to contracts that 
are incomplete as at 1 January 2018.

While this represents significant new guidance, the implementation of this new guid-
ance did not have a significant impact on the timing or amount of revenue recognized 
by the Company in any year.

On the date of initial application of IFRS 15, 1 January 2018, there was no impact to 
retained earnings of the Company.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. It makes 
major changes to the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of fi-
nancial assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of 
financial assets.

When adopting IFRS 9, the Company has applied transitional relief and opted not to 
restate prior periods. Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 in relation to 
classification, measurement, and impairment are recognized in retained earnings.

IFRS 9 also contains new requirements on the application of hedge accounting. The 
new requirements look to align hedge accounting more closely with entities’ risk 
management activities by increasing the eligibility of both hedged items and hedging 
instruments and introducing a more principles-based approach to assessing hedge 
effectiveness. The Company does not apply hedge accounting and therefore there is 
no impact on the financial statements.
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The adoption of IFRS 9 has impacted the following areas:

•	 the classification and measurement of the Company’s financial assets. Management 
holds financial assets to hold and collect the associated cash flows. The deposits 
previously classified as held-to-maturity (HTM) investments under IAS 39 con-
tinue to be accounted for at amortized cost as they meet the held to collect 
business model and contractual cash flow characteristics test in IFRS 9. 

•	 the impairment of financial assets applying the expected credit loss model. This 
affects the Company’s trade and other receivables measured at amortized cost. 
For contract assets arising from IFRS 15 and trade receivables, the Company 
applies a simplified model of recognizing lifetime expected credit losses as these 
items do not have a significant financing component. 

On the date of initial application, 1 January 2018, the financial instruments of the 
Company were reclassified as follows:

Measurement category Carrying amount

Original IAS 
39 category

New IFRS 9 
category

Balance 31 
December 
2017 (IAS 

39)

Adoption of 
IFRS 9

Opening 
balance 1 

January 2018 
(IFRS 9)

Current financial assets
Trade and oth-
er receivables

Amortized 
cost

Amortized 
cost

1,040,476 - 1 040,476

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Amortized 
cost

Amortized 
cost

1,841,611 - 1,841,611

Total financial 
assets

2,856,445 - 2,856,445

There have been no changes to the classification or measurement of financial liabili-
ties as a result of the application of IFRS 9

ii. Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that 
are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Company

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet 
effective, Standards, amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been 
published by the IASB. None of these Standards, amendments or Interpretations have 
been adopted early by the Company.

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the 
first period beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. New 
Standards, amendments and Interpretations neither adopted nor listed below have 
not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and three related Interpretations. It completes 
the IASB’s long running project to overhaul lease accounting. Leases will be recorded 
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in the statement of financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability. There are two important reliefs provided by IFRS 16 for assets of low value 
and short-term leases of less than 12 months. IFRS 16 is effective from periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted; however, the Company 
has decided not to early adopt.

Management is in the process of assessing the full impact of the Standard. So far, the 
Company: 

•	 has decided to make use of the practical expedient not to perform a full review 
of existing leases and apply IFRS 16 only to new or modified contracts. As some 
leases will be modified or renewed in 2019, the Company has reassessed these 
leases and concluded they will be recognized on the statement of financial posi-
tion as a right-of-use asset.

•	 believes that the most significant impact will be that the Company will need to 
recognize a right of use asset and a lease liability for properties currently treated 
as operating leases.

•	 concludes that there will not be a significant impact to the finance leases current-
ly held on the statement of financial position

The Group is planning to adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the Standard’s mod-
ified retrospective approach. Under this approach the cumulative effect of initially 
applying IFRS 16 is recognized as an adjustment to equity at the date of initial appli-
cation. Comparative information is not restated.

Choosing this transition approach results in further policy decisions the Company 
needs to make as there are several other transitional reliefs that can be applied. These 
relate to those leases previously held as operating leases and can be applied on a 
lease-by-lease basis. The Company is currently assessing the impact of applying these 
other transitional reliefs.

IFRS 16 has not made any significant changes to the accounting for lessors, and there-
fore the Company does not expect any changes for leases where they are acting as 
a lessor.

iii. IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
This Interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement require-
ments in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. In such a 
circumstance, an entity shall recognize and measure its current or deferred tax asset 
or liability applying the requirements in IAS 12 based on taxable profit (tax loss), tax 
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates determined applying this 
interpretation. 
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This Interpretation addresses: whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments 
separately; the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments 
by taxation authorities; how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and how an entity considers 
changes in facts and circumstances. The IFRIC will be applied retrospectively. The im-
pact on the annual financial statements has not yet been fully determined.

IFRIC 23 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019 with early adoption permitted.

iv. Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that 
are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Company

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (amendments)

Amendments require a company to use the updated assumptions when a change 
to a plan either an amendment, curtailment or settlement, takes place to determine 
current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after 
the change to the plan. Until now, IAS 19 did not specify how to determine these 
expenses for the period after the change to the plan. By requiring the use of updated 
assumptions, the amendments are expected to provide useful information to users 
of financial statements. The amendment will be applied retrospectively. The impact on 
the annual financial statements has not yet been fully determined.

IAS 19 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with 
early adoption permitted.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies of the company, which are set out below, have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements:

3.1  Revenue

Revenue arises mainly from the sale of ethanol and associated products. To determine 
whether to recognise revenue, the Company follows a 5-step process:

1 Identifying the contract with a customer

2 Identifying the performance obligations

3 Determining the transaction price

4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time when the Company satisfies perfor-
mance obligations by transferring the promised goods to its customers.

The Company recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of 
unsatisfied performance obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in 
the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Company satisfies a performance 
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obligation before it receives the consideration, the Company recognises either a con-
tract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending on whether 
something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.

Revenue from the sale of ethanol and associated products for a fixed price is rec-
ognised when as the Company transfers control of the assets to the customer. 
Invoices for goods transferred are due upon receipt by the customer. 

3.2 Property, plant and equipment

 i)  Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecia-
tion and impairment losses. Certain leasehold land, buildings, plant and equipment are 
revalued at periodic intervals. Property plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight-line basis at annual rates that will reduce book values to estimated residual 
value over the anticipated useful lives of the assets.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct 
labour plus any other cost directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are recognized in the state-
ment of other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading 
revaluation reserve.  Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and charged against the revaluation re-
serve, all other decreases are charged to profit or loss. The revaluation reserve is a 
non-distributable reserve and therefore not available for distribution as dividends.

 ii)  Subsequent costs

The expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is accounted for separately including the major inspections and overhaul 
costs. The subsequent expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalized 
only when the expenditure improves the condition of the asset resulting in increased 
future economies benefits. All other expenditures are expensed in the profit or loss 
as they are incurred.

 iii) Depreciation  

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. Noncurrent assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to reduce them to their anticipated 
residual value over their expected useful lives as follows:  

  Leasehold buildings and civil works       20 years

  Plant and machinery   5-20 years 

  Motor vehicles    4 years

  Furniture    5-10 years

In the year of acquisition depreciation is charged from the month an asset was 
brought into use. Capital work in progress is not depreciated. 
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 
date and adjusted if appropriate.

3.3  Intangible assets

Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated 
useful life of 20 years. Costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will con-
tribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost 
reduction are capitalised to software. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. The sub-
sequent expenditure on intangible asset is capitalized only when the expenditure 
results in increased future economies benefits from the asset. All other expenditures 
are expensed in the profit or loss as they are incurred.

3.4 Inventories and work in progress

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a weighted 
average basis. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost 
included an appropriate share of production based on normal operating capacity. 
Net realizable value is estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated cost of completion and selling expenses.

3.5 Impairment of assets

i)   Financial assets

IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recog-
nise expected credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. This replaces 
IAS 39’s ‘incurred loss model’.

Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans and other 
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, 
contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and 
some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Company first identifying 
a credit loss

event. Instead the Company considers a broader range of information when assessing 
credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current condi-
tions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of 
the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

•	 Financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality 
since initial recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 

•	 Financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since 
initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).

•	 Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment 
at the reporting date.
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12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime 
expected credit losses’ are recognised for the second category.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted 
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Previous financial asset impairment under IAS 39

In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was based on the incurred loss 
model. Individually significant receivables were considered for impairment when they 
were past due or when other objective evidence was received that a specific coun-
terparty will default.

Trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and oth-
er receivables as well as contract assets and records the loss allowance as lifetime 
expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 
considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instru-
ment. In calculating, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a pro-
vision matrix.

The Company assesses impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they 
possess shared credit risk characteristics they have been grouped based on the days 
past due.

ii)   Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories 
and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s re-
coverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite 
lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each 
year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
“cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the pur-
pose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-gen-
erating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are rec-
ognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro rata basis.
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3.6 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing compo-
nent and are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all finan-
cial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where 
applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are 
classified into the following categories:

•	 amortised cost
•	 fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
•	 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

In the periods presented the corporation does not have any financial assets catego-
rised as FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

•	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or 
loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, ex-
cept for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses.

i. Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following con-
ditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

•	 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial 
assets and collect its contractual cash flows

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective in-
terest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into 
this category of financial instruments that were previously classified as held-to-ma-
turity under IAS 39.
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ii. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to 
collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and 
loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash 
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised 
in profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined 
by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no 
active market exists.

iii. Financial assets classified as available for sale (AFS) under IAS 39 
(comparative periods)

AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to 
this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial 
assets (FVTPL or held to maturity and loans and receivables).

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same under IFRS 9 com-
pared to IAS 39, the Company’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption 
of IFRS 9. However, for completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below. The 
Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjust-
ed for transaction costs. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities 
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. All interest-related charges are reported in profit or loss 
are included within finance costs or finance income.

3.7 Research and development

No intangible asset arising from research is recognised. Expenditure on research is 
recognised as an expense when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from de-
velopment is only recognised if and only if the following can be demonstrated: the 
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it can be available for 
use or sale; intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; the ability to 
use or sell the intangible asset; how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits; the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; the ability to 
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its devel-
opment. 

3.8  Employee service benefits

i. Long term benefits
Employees are members of the defined contributory pension scheme. Employer’s 
contributions are charged to the profit or loss when they are due in respect of ser-
vices rendered before the end of the reporting period. The company pension scheme 
is defined contribution managed by Inde Trust Limited. 
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ii. Short term benefits
Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis 
and are expensed as the related service is provided. An accrual is recognized for the 
amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 
by the employee and the obligation can be measured reliably.

3.9 Payables

Trade and other payables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together 
with other short-term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the 
date of acquisition that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.11   Financing costs

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the 
effective yield on the asset. All interest and other costs incurred in connection with 
borrowings are expensed as incurred. The interest expense component of finance 
lease payments is recognized in profit or loss.

3.12 Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

i. Income tax
Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent it relates to 
items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case 
it is recognized in equity or in other comprehensive income. Current income tax is 
the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using tax rates enacted 
at the reporting date and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous year.

ii. Deferred taxation
 Full provision is made for deferred tax as calculated under the liability meth-
od. Deferred tax is accounted for as a long-term liability.

Deferred taxation arising from timing differences on the inclusion of income or ex-
penditure in the statement of comprehensive income and the related tax computa-
tion is taken to profit or loss. Deferred tax which would have arisen if the revalued 
fixed assets were sold at their enhanced carrying value is transferred from the related 
reserves to deferred tax provision as a statement of financial position movement and 
disclosed in the note relating to taxation. A deferred tax asset is recognized only to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realized. Additional income tax that arises from the distribution of dividends 
are recognized at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend.
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3.13 Share capital

i. Preference share capital
Preference share capital is classified as a financial liability as it is redeemable at the 
option of the shareholders.

ii. Dividends
Dividends on preference shares are recognized as a liability and expressed on an ac-
crual basis to profit or loss as interest expense. Other dividends are recognized as a 
liability in the period in which they are declared. Proposed ordinary dividends during 
the year form part of shareholders equity.

3.14  Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit/ (loss) after taxation and prefer-
ence dividend by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
year.

3.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective in-
terest method, less any impairment losses. Refer for to policy number 3.6 and 3.7 for 
initial recognition, subsequent measurement and impairment of financial assets which 
includes trade and other receivables.

3.16  Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Malawi Kwacha at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Malawi 
Kwacha at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.

3.17 Provisions

A provision is recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and amounts can be estimated reliably.

3.18 Revaluation reserve

Surplus on the revaluation of assets is transferred to a non-distributable revaluation 
reserve. Depreciation on revalued property, plant and equipment is charged to profit 
or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributed 
revaluable surplus remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred direct-
ly to the surplus/ deficit reserve.

3.19 Investment in Associate

The company uses equity method of accounting for investments in Associates. Under 
this method of accounting, equity investment is initially recorded at cost and is sub-
sequently adjusted to reflect the Company’s share of the net profit or loss of the 
Associate. Distributions received from the investee reduce the carrying amount of 
the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be required arising 
from changes in the investee’s other comprehensive income that have not been in-
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cluded in profit or loss

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the deter-
mination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair 
values have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure purposes based 
on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assump-
tions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability. 

4.1  Property, plant and equipment

The buildings and property held for use in the production and for administrative 
purposes, are stated at their depreciated replacement amounts, being the fair value at 
the revaluation date, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
impairment losses.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from what would be determined using fair values at the 
reporting date.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation is credited to the revaluation 
reserve and a decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation is charged to 
other comprehensive income to the extent that it exceeds the property’s revaluation 
reserve relating to previous revaluations.

Depreciation on the revalued properties is charged to profit or loss. On the subse-
quent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus 
remaining in the property’s revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained 
earnings. Motor vehicles, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Properties and plant in course of construction for production or administrative pur-
poses are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these 
assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended purpose.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or revaluation of assets, other 
than land and properties under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using 
the straight-line method.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1     Financial risk management

 The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including: 

a. market risk;
b. credit risk; and 
c. liquidity risk.

The company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
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of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s 
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by 
the board of directors. The board provides written principles for overall risk manage-
ment, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess liquidity.

5.1.1 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the company’s income or the value of 
its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while op-
timising the return.

i. Foreign currency risk
The company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that 
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the company. 
The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are Euro, USD, 
GBP and ZAR. In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in for-
eign currencies, the company ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable 
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to address 
short-term imbalances.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the financial assets denominated in foreign curren-
cies were: 

        2018    2017

 Cash and cash equivalents

 United States Dollar       84  2,506

        

 A 10% depreciation or appreciation of the 

 Malawi Kwacha will lead to a Profit Before 

 Tax reduction or   increase by:         6               124

The Company had no financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 
December 2018 (2017:nil).   

i. Price risk
As the company had no significant publicly-traded equity and commodity securities, 
the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market security prices.

ii. interest rate risk
As the Company has some interest-bearing borrowings, the Company’s income and 
operating cash flows are substantially affected by changes in market interest rates.
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iii.    Interest rate risk

As the Company has some interest-bearing borrowings, the Company’s income and 
operating cash flows are substantially affected by changes in market interest rates.

The company’s interest rate risk arises from its investment in treasury bills. Treasury 
bills purchased at fixed rates expose the company to fair value interest rate risk. 

Since there is no active market for debt securities, it is not possible to disclose the 
sensitivity of the fair value of the treasury bills to fluctuations in the market yield of 
debt securities.

5.1.2    Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty 
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally 
from the company’s receivables from customers and short-term deposits.

Credit risk for the company arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions and receivables. Below are the financial assets that are 
exposed to credit risk:

      Note  2018  2017

 Trade and other receivables 

 (excluding prepayments) 10        528,497      1,040,476

 Cash and cash equivalents 11     2,125,739      1,841,611

   Total exposure     2,654,236      2,856,445

5.1.3    Credit risk

i. Trade and other receivables
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual char-
acteristics of each customer. The Company’s credit customer base, including the de-
fault risk based on the business experience, has less of an influence on credit risk. 
Therefore, there is no concentration of credit risk. The company has a credit policy 
under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before 
the company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The 
company’s review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank 
references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which represents the 
maximum open amount without requiring approval from management; these limits are 
reviewed annually. Customers that fail to meet the company’s benchmark creditworthi-
ness transact with the company only on a prepayment cash basis. 

More than 95 percent of the company’s customers have been transacting with the 
company for over 20 years, and losses have occurred infrequently. In monitoring cus-
tomer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, 
including whether they are an individual or legal entity, whether they are a wholesale, 
retail or end-user customer, geographic location, industry, aging profile, maturity and 
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existence of previous financial difficulties. Trade and other receivables relate mainly 
to the company’s wholesale customers. Customers that are graded as “high risk” 
are placed on a restricted customer list, and future sales are made on a prepayment 
cash basis. The company does not require collateral in respect of trade and other re-
ceivables. The company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its 
estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables and investments. 
The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates 
to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for 
groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet iden-
tified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment 
statistics for similar financial assets.

ii.   Staff receivables
Staff receivables are recordable through payroll deductions and, on termination from 
terminal benefits.

iii. Short-term deposits 
The company limits its exposure to credit risk by depositing its excess cash only 
with reputable established commercial banks and discount houses accredited by the 
Reserve Bank of Malawi. Considering their high credit ratings and Reserve Bank of 
Malawi close monitoring of these financial institutions, management does not expect 
any institution to fail to meet its obligations.

iv. Guarantees 
The company’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to its permanent em-
ployees. As at 31 December 2018, there were no staff loan balance guaranteed by the 
company (2017: Zero). None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been 
renegotiated in the last year.

v. Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

           
Carrying amount 

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha  Note  2018  2017

Trade and other receivables (excluding 

Prepayments)       10        528,497        1,014,834

Balances due from related parties     23               461               -

Cash and cash equivalents         11      2,125,739        1,841,611

  Total              2,654,697        2,856,445 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by 
type of customer was:       
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In thousands of Malawi Kwacha  Note  Carrying amount

Fuel ethanol customers    420,708       434,788

Potable ethanol customers     77,349       214,475  

  Total   10 498,057       649,263

`The company’s key customers for fuel ethanol and potable alcohol accounts were 
MK654,121 of the trade receivables carrying amount at 31 December 2018 (2017: 
MK427,145). 

vi. Impairment losses 
The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha

         2018     2017

Not past due     509,492 649,263 

Total      509,492 649,263

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during 
the year was as follows:

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha 

Balance at 1 January    301,676 133,701

Impairment loss recognized   191,976   167,975

Balance as at 31 December   493,652 301,676 

Based on historic default rates, the company believes that no impairment allowance 
is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or past due by up to 30 
days representing 96 percent of the balance, which includes the amount owed by the 
company’s most key customers (see above), relates to customers that have a good 
track record with the company.

vii. Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the company’s interest-bearing fi-
nancial instruments was: 

In thousands of Malawi Kwacha  Note  Carrying amount

Fixed rate instruments  

Financial assets    11 1,917,249     1,841,611  
  

      1,917,249 1 , 8 4 1 , 6 1 1  
 

viii. Fair values versus carrying amounts 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are the same as carrying amounts 
shown in the statement of financial position and the basis for determining fair values 

70ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED | Sustainability Report |



is disclosed in accounting policy number (4).

5.1.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obliga-
tions as they fall due. The company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far 
as possible, that it will always have liquid assets to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk-
ing damage to the company’s reputation. The company uses activity-based costing to 
cost its products and services, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements 
and optimising its cash return on investments. 

The company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected opera-
tional expenses for a period of 90 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; 
this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably 
be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

5.2. Capital risk management

The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder 
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to the shareholder, or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

5.3         Operational risk 

This is the risk of loss arising from operations of the Company. Losses can occur 
due to the system or factory malfunctioning or failure to follow the procedures. 
Operational risk manifests itself through losses as a results of/ customer complaints 
and claims. To reduce the risk, management continuously reviews the controls and 
procedures in place. The company employs quality controller, safety health and en-
vironmental officer in addition to Press Corporation Group internal auditors who 
periodically determine and checks the effectiveness of the controls in place.

Disaster recovery arrangements are also in place so that business can continue should 
major disruptions occur. At least twice every year, the external auditors review the 
company operations with a view to assessing risks and controls.  

6. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active 
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other 
financial instruments, the company determines fair values using other valuation tech-
niques.

For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, 
fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on 
liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other 
risks affecting the specific instrument.
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6.1 Valuation models

The company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which re-
flects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical instruments.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category 
includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant in-
puts are directly or indirectly observable from market data

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for 
which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This cate-
gory includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instru-
ments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required 
to reflect differences between the instruments. 

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that 
reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the lia-
bility in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The company uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair value 
of common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency 
swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgment 
and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market 
for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-
the-counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market 
prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation 
and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. 

Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products 
and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions 
in the financial markets.

If the company measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the 
basis of net exposures to market risks, then it applies judgment in determining ap-
propriate portfolio-level adjustments such as bid-ask spreads. Such adjustments are 
derived from observable bid-ask spreads for similar instruments and adjusted for 
factors specific to the portfolio. Similarly, when the company measures portfolios of 
financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of net exposure to the credit risk 
of a particular counterparty, then it takes into account any existing arrangements that 
mitigate the credit risk exposure (e.g. master netting agreements with the counter-
party)

6.2      Fair value of financial instruments– fair value hierarchy

They were no financial instruments measured at fair value as at the reporting date. 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
property 
and civil 
works

Plant and 
machin-

ery

Furniture 
and equip-

ment

Motor 
Vehicles

*Capital 
work in 
progress

Total

Cost of valuation 

As at 1st January 2018 1,292,647 2,272,443 156,233 272,205 542,323 4,535,851

Additions during the year 18,022 189,120 10,975 9,492 227,609

Disposals during the year - - (2,593) (54,566) (534,320) (591,479)

As at 31 December 2018 1,310,669 2,461,563 164,615 217,638 17,493 4,171,978

As at 1 January 2017 826,459 2,102,996 137,218 222,704 200,388 3,489,765

Additions during the year 67,126 165,438 19,967 52,295 346,903 651,729

Revaluation surplus 401,003 1,000 - - - 402,003

Reclassifications 1,959 3,009 - - (4,968) -

Disposals during the year (3,900) - (952) (2,794) - (7,646)

As at 31 December 2017 1,292,647 2,272,443 156,233 272,205 542,323 4,535,851

Depreciation and im-
pairment

As at 1 January 2018 - 956,530 112,045 170,264 - 1,238,839

Charge for the year 74,396 134,453 21,801 34,598 - 265,248

Elimination of depreciation 
on disposal - - (2,561) (49,261) - (51,823)

As at 31 December 2018 74,396 1,090,983 131,284 97,077 - 1,452,264

As at 1 January 2017 167,006 839,759 90,179 143,092 - 1,240,036

Charge for the year 43,540 116,769 22,818 27,173 - 210,300

Reclassifications - 3 - - - 3

Elimination of depreciation 
on disposal - - (952) - - (952)

Accumulated depreciation 
released on revaluation (210,546) - - - - (210,546)

As at 31 December 2017 - 956,531 112,045 170,265 - 1,238,841

Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2018 1,236,274 1,370,579 33,330 7,978 17,493 2,719,714

As at 31 December 2017 1,292,647 1,315,912 44,188 101,940 542,323 3,297,010

A register of land and buildings giving details required under the Companies Act 2013, 
Schedule 3, and Section 16 is maintained at the registered office of the company and is open 
for inspection by members or their duly authorized agents. 

Leasehold properties, civil works, were re-valued on 31 December 2017 by Messrs Knight 
Frank – Malawi Limited, on an Open Market Value (OMV). Under the method used, the re-val-
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ued cost is treated as the new gross amount and accumulated depreciation is restated

*Included in the capital work in progress figure are the following works stated at   cost:

        2018  2017

- Residential Housing /offices                         -  6,552

Fair value hierarchy

 The following table analyses property and equipment measured at fair value at the reporting 
date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is catego-
rized. 

2018    Level 1  Level 2   Level 3    Total

Leasehold Property and civil works     -             -         -                  -  
        -    -  1,236,274 1,236,274

2017     

Leasehold Property and civil works      -             -         -                  - 

         -       -  1,292,647 1,292,647

     

If the land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the carrying amounts would 
be as follows:

        2018  2017

Cost           -  300,906

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses              -  228,544

Net carrying Amount                 -    72,362

8.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Refer accounting policy note 3.4

Cost –valuation  

As at 1 January       147,532  147,532

As at 31 December      147,532  147,532

Amortization  

As at 1 January        96,336   83,093

Charge for the year           3,501   13,243

As at 31 December 99,837 96,336
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Carrying amounts  

As at 31 December 47,695 51,196

Intangible assets relates to computer software and is carried at cost less accumulated amor-
tisation and impairment losses.

9. INVENTORIES

 Refer to accounting policy 3.5

 

Finished products and work in progress    558,428 463,519

Work in progress        15,702   18,738

Raw materials/consumables     559,220 390,399

Spares           168,903    129,426

                1,302,250         1,002,082

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Refer accounting policy note 3.16

a)  Short-term -within 12 months  

 Trade receivables        509,492  649,263

 Other receivables           490,566   667,247

        1,000,058 1,316,510

 Receivables impairment    (493,652)  (301,676)

 Net carrying amount       506,408 1,014,834

 Other prepayments       602,084    615,630

 Taxes prepaid                       -           95,758

        1,108,490 1,726,222

b).  Long-term staff loans – receivable after 12 months     22,089     25,642

 Total Trade and other receivables   1,130,579 1,751,865

 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Refer accounting policy note 3.16

The repayment period for the long-term staff loans ranges from 2 to 10 years at 6% 
interest per annum.  The Company pays Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT) on the difference 
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between the bank base rate and the staff interest rate.  A total FBT of MK3.3 million 
relating to staff loans was paid in the year. The carrying amount of receivables of 
MK1.1 billion (2017: MK1.7 billion) is a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

c) Movement in receivables impairment       2018    2017

Balance at 1 January     301,676 133,701

Net impairment loss recognized    191,976 167,975

Balance at 31 December    493,652 301,676

                                                                                                                         

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Refer accounting policy note 3.11 

Cash and bank balance       208,490 1,617,972

Fixed deposits      1,917,249   223,639

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 2,125,739 1,841,611

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalent of MK2,125,739 (2017: MK1,841,611) 
is a reasonable approximation of their fair values. Interest rates on fixed deposits 
were on average 14% (21% in 2017). 

12. SHARE CAPITAL

Refer accounting policy note 3.16 

Analysis of share capital 

Authorized:

3,050,000 ordinary shares of K1 each    3,050 3,050

450,000 10.5%-13.5% cumulative participating preference 

shares of K1 each           450       450

        3,500 3,500

Issued and fully paid:

2,750,000 ordinary shares of K1 each    2,750 2,750

450,000 10.5%-13.5% cumulative participating preference 

shares of K1 each            450    450

          3,200 3,200
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13. REVALUATION RESERVE

Refer accounting policy note 3.19   2018     2017 
 

Balance as at 1 January     764,595   420,286

Revaluation surplus         -    613,826

Depreciation on revaluation        -  (154,727)

Prior year adjustment (refer to note 27)     (1,278)       -

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus     (72,237) (114,790)  

Balance as at 31 December         691,080   764,595

14. RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance as at 1 January     5,906,376 5,466,905

Profit for the year      (171,572) 712,681

Dividends to equity holders    (427,000) (380,000)

Prior year adjustment (refer to note 27)     (32,247)      -

Deferred Tax transferred from revaluation surplus     21,671      -

Depreciation on revaluation surplus            72,237   114,790

Balance as at 31 December 2017   5,369,465 5,906,376

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Refer accounting policy note 3.10  

Trade payables      672,220 435,418

Other payables and accruals    228,523     484,448

       900,743 919,866

The carrying amount of payables of MK901 million (2017: MK920 million) is a reason-
able approximation of their fair values.

16. PROVISIONS

Refer accounting policy note 3.18  

Performance and deferred bonus
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Balance as at 1 January 2018      11,690       157,175

Provisions raised during the year         -          11,690

Provisions released during the year  (11,690)     (157,175)

Balance at 31 December                      -              11,690

17. PENSION FUND

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is maintained 
by Indetrust/NBM Pension and Death Benefits Fund. The Trustees of the fund have af-
fected a deposit administration contract with Indetrust Limited. The charge to profit 
or loss is MK122 million (2017: MK119 million). (Note 20)

18. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

Loss on disposal of plant property and equipment     5,301     (3,900)

Sundry income      132,922  106,739

       138,223  102,839

19. DISTRIBUTION COST

Carriage outwards     71,918  29,365

Selling expenses      122,909  50,565

Ethanol loss in transit          12,11    6,938

       206,940  86,868

20. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Auditors’ remuneration:   

                                    - current year audit fees   19,136  19,238

Communication        26,867  17,428

Depreciation      265,249  210,300

Amortisation          3,501   13,244

Directors emoluments: - fees      13,166   12,574

                                     - expenses     13,570   10,662

Group life assurance       39,062   27,157

Legal and professional fees       13,324   11,226 

Management fees        64,688   56,250
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Motor vehicle expenses         19,519      68,549

Pension contributions        121,860   118,771

Staff costs         973,402   928,524

Repairs and maintenance       130,339   118,138

Stationery and office expenses         15,576     10,584

Welfare and security costs         32,355     25,098

Training expenses          44,202     20,990

Motor vehicle staff allowances       285,720   150,582

Fines and Penalties          11,600     -

Other administration expenses               59,570     11,502

       2,152,706 1,830,817

21. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

         2018  2017

Computer expenses     33,658  54,825

Advertising      12,833  15,142

Safety Health and Environment    31,809  13,478

Donations      11,256  10,792

Electricity and water     82,325  55,696

Fringe benefit tax     43,587  61,233

Insurance      38,421  66,538

Protective clothing       6,417    6,925

Bad debts provision              191,977            167,975

Travel & Subsistence     21,913  18,748

Fuel       41,090  38,668

RAMA project impairments             460,783     -

Recruitment and settlement expenses     -      938

Research and development*                                          55,682    29,543

Recognised in the profit or loss           1,031,751           540,501
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* The significant increase in research and development costs relates to the impair-
ment of development expenses relating to RAMA project (MK460,783) which has 
been put on hold in the year 2018.

22. NET FINANCE INCOME

Finance income     187,375  275,324

Exchange gains         6,752   34,210

Finance costs        (5,542)   (1,645)

Net finance income     188,585  307,889

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Refer accounting policy note 3.13  

Corporate income tax at 30% (2017 - 30%) 164,640  244,214

Deferred tax charge        29,033          (230,307)

Total income tax expense in the profit or loss  193,673    13,907

Deferred tax liability     Note 

Balance as at 1 January    216,549  292,129

Prior year adjustment       27      33,525                -

Restated balance as at 1 January      27  250,074    292,129

Accelerated capital allowance     29,027 (230,307)

Reclassification  -

Deferred tax on revaluation    (21,671)  154,727

Balance as at 31 December   257,430   216,549

Deferred tax assets movement in the year

 Balance as at Recognized in     Recognized in   Balance as at

  1 Jan 2018  profit or loss Other comprehensive 31 December 2018

    

Property plant

and equipment    (168,513)       29,027  (21,671) (161,157)

Provisions       214,893             -         -     214,893
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Prior year adjustment 

(Refer to note 27)        -  - 33,525     33,525

Unrealized Exchange differences  170,169           -      -   170,169

Total    216,549     29,027 11,854  257,430

    

Property plant and equipment   96,241    (230,307) (34,447) (168,513)

Provisions   214,893  -      -    214,893

Unrealized Exchange differences (19,005)           - 189,174    170,169

Total    292,129  (230,307) 154,727 216,549

23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax liability        2018      2017 

Balance as at 1 January      121,487   782,537 

Tax paid during the year    (182,226) (905,263)

Current year income tax     164,640   244,213

        103,901   121,487

Reconciliation of tax expense with accounting income:  

Profit before tax        22,101    726,588

Income tax using the corporate tax rate      6,630    214,536

Excess depreciation       80,621      73,501

Non-deductible expenses    117,497      67,003

Realised exchange rate        (11,963)         -

Deductible expenses      (28,149)           (110,826)

       164,640   244,214

24. RELATED PARTIES

Related parties of Ethanol Company Limited include Press Corporation Limited 
(PCL) which has the controlling interest in Ethanol Company, PUMA Energy in which 
PCL owns 50%, Malawi Telecommunications Limited in which PCL acquired a con-
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trolling interest from February 2007, Peoples Trading Centre (PTC) in which PCL 
has a 100% equity stake, Illovo Sugar – Dwangwa Estate which owns 7.63% shares in 
Ethanol Company Limited and Indetrust/NBM Pension which owns 25.82% of equity 
in Ethanol.

Ethanol company Limited holds 30% equity stake in Carbon Dioxide and Allied 
Products (Pty) Limited which has since been provided for as the company continues 
to make losses.

Senior officers of the company who are also related parties include the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors J. Bizwick and Directors E Mafeni, W.Mabulekesi, L Mandala, L. 
Katandula, B. W. Jere and Benard Ndau. 

Ethanol Company transacted with PUMA Energy which is joint ventures of PCL; and 
MDL which is an associate of PCL and also transacted with Malawi Telecommunication 
Ltd, PTC and TNM which are subsidiaries of PCL.

Ethanol Company sold 440 thousand litres (2017: 1 million litres) of fuel ethanol to 
PUMA Energy at a total value of MK409 million (2017: MK583 million) and bought 
fuel from PUMA Energy amounting to MK142.7 million (MK118 million).  PUMA 
Enegry owed Ethanol Company Limited MK56.5 million (2017: MK150 million) as at 
31st December 2018. The Company made purchases from Peoples Trading Centre of 
MK4.5 million (2017:MK7.5 million). Corporate fee of MK65. million was paid to PCL.

The company buys steam and molasses from Illovo Sugar Limited – Dwangwa Estate.  
A total of MK2.225 billion (2017: MK2.041 billion) worth of molasses (34.5 metric 
tons) and MK224 million (2017:MK125 million) worth of steam (27,000 tonnes) were 
purchased from Dwangwa Estate in 2018.  

The company’s pension scheme is the Indetrust/NBM Pension and Death Benefits 
Fund.  The Trustees of the fund have affected a deposit administration contract with 
Indetrust Limited.  A total of MK122 million has been charged to profit or loss being 
employers’ contribution towards the fund. 

A total of MK13.2 million (2017:MK12.6 million) was paid as directors’ fee during 
the year. 

               2018         2017

 Amount due from related parties

 Press Cane Company Limited       460          -

          460           -

 Amount due to related parties

 Press Corporation Limited    598   -

 Indetrust Pensions and Benefits Fund       20       -

        618        -

 These transactions are at arms-length.
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25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company is defending 4 court cases involving various employees who are suing 
the company for unfair dismissal.

Judgement for some of the cases was already delivered in favour of EthCo, indicating 
that the company tries to ensure that all steps related to employee grievances are 
carefully executed.

26. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  

          2018    2017

 Committed and contracted    564,663  507,916

 Committed but not contracted    200,000  160,000

       764,663 667,916

27.       PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

The accompanying financial statements have been restated to correct an error made 
in prior year. The error related to an understatement of deferred tax liability and 
overstatement of retained earnings by MK33.5 million. The effects of the restatement 
was to increase deferred ta liability balance at 31 December 2018 by MK33.5 million. 
Opening balance for retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2018 has 
been adjusted for the effects of the restatements. 

i) Statement of financial position            Impacts of correction of error

1 January 2018

In Malawi Kwacha As previously reported Adjustments As restated

Non-current liabilities   

Deferred liabilities    216,549    33,525  250,071

Capital and reserves   

Retained earnings  5,906,376  (32,247) 5,874,129

Revaluation reserve     764,595    (1,278)    763,317

Share capital                2,750                  -                   2,750

Total equity             6,673,721  (33,525) 6,640,196                     

There is no material impact on the Company’s total operating, investing or financing 
cashflows for the years ended 31 December 2018.
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28. INFLATION AND EXCHANGE RATES

The average of the year-end buying and selling rates of the major foreign curren-
cies affecting the performance of the company are as stated below, together with 
the National Consumers Price Index which represents an official measure of infla-
tion. 

       MK  MK

 United States Dollar (US$)   735  735

 Euro (€)     865  865

 South African Rand (ZAR)     62    53

 Inflation rate     9.7%  7.4%

As at the date of signing the audit report, the exchange and inflation rates were as 
follows:

 United States Dollar (US$)   735  735

 Euro (€)     865  865

 South African Rand (ZAR)     62    53

 Inflation rate %     9.7%  7.2%

29.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE    

There are no significant events that have occurred after the reporting date which 
necessitates adjustments to or disclosure in the financial statements. 
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“For the Materiality Disclosures Service, GRI Services 
reviewed that the GRI content index is clearly presented 
and the references for Disclosures 102-40 to 102-49 align 
with appropriate sections in the body of the report.”

GRI Content Index
GRI Standard Disclosure

Page number(s) 
and/or direct 

answers
Omission

GRI 101: Foundation 2016

General Disclosures

Organizational profile

GRI 102: 
General 
Disclosures 
2016

102-1 Name of the organization 3,7
102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 7
102-3 Location of headquarters 7
102-4 Location of operations 7
102-5 Ownership and legal form 7
102-6 Markets served 7
102-7 Scale of the organization 7,8
102-8 Information on employees and other workers 34,35,36,37
102-9 Supply chain 28,29,30,31,32
102-10 Significant changes to the organization and 
its supply chain 28,29,30,31,32
102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach 20,21
102-12 External initiatives 7
102-13 Membership of associations 7
Strategy
102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker 9,10,11,12
102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 9,10,11,25
Ethics and integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of 
behavior 2
102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about 
ethics 21

Governance

102-18 Governance structure 13
102-19 Delegating authority 13
102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, 
environmental, and social topics 22
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GRI 102: 
General 

Disclosures 
2016

102-21 Consulting stakeholders on economic, 
environmental, and social topics 22,23
102-22 Composition of the highest governance body 
and its committees 13,14,15,16
102-23 Chair of the highest governance body 14
102-24 Nominating and selecting the highest 
governance body 13
102-25 Conflicts of interest 17
102-29 Identifying and managing economic, 
environmental, and social impacts 22
102-30 Effectiveness of risk management processes

20,21
102-31 Review of economic, environmental, and 
social topics 22
102-32 Highest governance body’s role in 
sustainability reporting 22
102-33 Communicating critical concerns 21
102-35 Remuneration policies 17
102-36 Process for determining remuneration 17
Stakeholder engagement
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 22,23
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 33
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 22,23
102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 22,23
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 23,24
Reporting practice
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements 3
102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries

23
102-47 List of material topics 24
102-48 Restatements of information 3
102-49 Changes in reporting Being the first 

report, there were 
no changes in 

reporting.
102-50 Reporting period 3
102-51 Date of most recent report Being the first 

report, the current 
report is the most 

recent.
102-52 Reporting cycle 4
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102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the 
report 4
102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the 
GRI Standards 4
102-55 GRI content index 85-91
102-56 External assurance 4

GRI Standard Disclosure Page number(s) 
and/or URL(s) Omission

Material Topics
200 series (Economic topics)
Economic Performance

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 37
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 37
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 37

GRI 201: 
Economic 
Performance 
2016

201-1 Direct economic value generated and 
distributed

8,38,39

Indirect Economic Impacts

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 40,41
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 40,41
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 40,41

GRI 203: 
Indirect 
Economic 
Impacts 2016

203-1 Infrastructure investments and services 
supported 40,41
203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

40,41
Anti-corruption

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 27
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 27
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 27

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to 
corruption 27
205-2 Communication and training about anti-
corruption policies and procedures 27,28
205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions 
taken 27
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300 series (Environmental topics)

Materials

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 30,31
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 30,31
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 30,31

GRI 301: 
Materials 2016

301-1 Materials used by weight or volume 30,31
301-3 Reclaimed products and their packaging 
materials 31

Energy

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 33
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 33
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 33

GRI 302: Energy 
2016

302-1 Energy consumption within the organization
33

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the 
organization 34

Water and Effluents

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 31
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 31,32
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 31,32

GRI 303: Water 
and Effluents 
2018

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource
31,32

303-2 Management of water discharge-related 
impacts 32
303-3 Water withdrawal 32
303-4 Water discharge 32
303-5 Water consumption 32

Environmental Compliance

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 27,30
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 30
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 30
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GRI 307: 
Environmental 
Compliance 
2016

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations

27,30

400 series (Social topics)

Employment

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 35
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 35
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 35

GRI 401: 
Employment 
2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover
35

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees 
that are not provided to temporary or part-time 
employees 35,36
401-3 Parental leave 36

Occupational Health and Safety

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 36
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 36
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 36

GRI 403: 
Occupational 
Health and 
Safety 2018

403-1 Occupational health and safety management 
system 36
403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and 
incident investigation 36
403-3 Occupational health services 36,37
403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and 
communication on occupational health and safety

36,37
403-5 Worker training on occupational health and 
safety 37,38
403-6 Promotion of worker health 37
403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational 
health and safety impacts directly linked by business 
relationships 37,38
403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health 
and safety management system 37
403-9 Work-related injuries 37
403-10 Work-related ill health 37
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Training and Education

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 38
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 38
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 38

GRI 404: 
Training and 
Education 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year per 
employee 38
404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and 
transition assistance programs 38
404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular 
performance and career development reviews

38

Customer Health and Safety

GRI 103: 
Management 
Approach 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
Boundary 39
103-2 The management approach and its 
components 39
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 39

GRI 416: 
Customer 
Health and 
Safety 2016

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts 
of product and service categories 28,39
416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the 
health and safety impacts of products and services

28,39
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